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PORTON
ONE BEACH TOO FAR - BOUGAINVILLE 1945

Arthur Burke

"We dropped rounds wherever we wanted ... the Japs couldn't get near us."

At a sprightly 80 years of age, David Frey Spark's eyes glistened as he relived the response to
his calls for fire support covering the withdrawal from the disastrous amphibious landing at
Porton Plantation. His actions earned an immediate Military Cross and "I drank my quota ofbeer
and I was loaded onto the ship for home", he continued making light of the wounds he sustained.

This is the story of a quite unique artillery officer whose deeds during a calamitous operation
emphasise the great heights to which ordinary citizens before enlistment can rise in the heat of
battle. I enjoyed the pleasure of interviewing David Spark in 1996 as part ofmy research into the
history of the 4th Field Artillery. This article is more than an amalgam of part of that interview
intimately interwoven with the references listed-it is a tribute to a great but relatively unknown
man.

The first anniversary of the D-day landings at Normandy had just passed when a reinforced
company of the 31st/51st Battalion made an amphibious landing in armoured barges at Porton
Plantation in northeast Bougainville. This was a clandestine operation to deny the Japanese a
withdrawal route up the Bonis Peninsula and away from the other advancing battalions of the
11th Australian Infantry Brigade. The Australians were below strength and weary from this war
that seemed to be dragging on, the outflanking movement by the 31 st/51 st was hoped to bring
fighting in this area to and end.

To understand why this militia brigade from North Queensland was in Bougainville fighting a
very frustrating war, it is necessary to drop bar;k in time to 1November 1943 when, as part of the
Allied offensive against the stalled Japanese advance, the US 3rd Marine Division landed at
Torokina on the central western side of Bougainville Island and secured a beachhead. The US
XIV Corps then relieved the Marines and created a protective enclave around Torokina.

Over the next year, MacArthur agreed with the Australian government that the American effort
would be directed to retaking the Philippines whilst the Australian troops would continue the
neutralisation of the Japanese in the Australian mandated territories, mopping up operations as
they became known. In the Solomons,Lieutenant General Stanley Savige's IT Australian Corps
of four brigades (7th, 11th, 15th and 29th) completed relief of the two US divisions on
Bougainville in December 1944.

For operations, Savige divided the 200 km long lozenge-shaped island into north, central (Numa
Numa) and southern sectors and began a proactive campaign to destroy the enemy resistance as
opportunity offered. The 4th Australian Field Regiment (Jungle Division) AIF had been
. withdrawn from the Shaggy Ridge area of the Ramu Valley and was retraining just west OfLae
when it received orders to embark for Bougainville. Arriving on 5 November 1944, it joined the
2nd Field Regiment and the 2nd Battery which, together with several anti-aircraft units
constituted the initial allocation ofartillery to IT Corps.

, ..
The campaign opened in the central sector with 9th Battalion (7th Brigade) supported by 4th
Field Regiment's 12th Battery (eight x 25-Pounder shorts) relieving the Americans on the Numa
Numa Trail. One of this battery's observation post officers (OPO), Lieutenant David Spark was
no stranger to operations. David had joined 1st Medium Brigade RAA (Militia) in 1938 and was
a full-time duty training sergeant before enlisting in the AIF in July 1940. A reinforcement to the
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2/2nd Field Regiment as a bombardier observation post assistant in the Middle East, he became a
POW after the fall of Crete, escaped to Egypt, returned to Australia, was granted a field
commission and joined the 4th Field Regiment RAA in the Brisbane in November 1942. He was
appointed an OPO in 12th Battery and had remained with them via Townsville and Lae to
Shaggy Ridge where his unit relieved 2/4th Field Regiment AIF, then onto Bougainville.

Lieutenant Spark returned to Torokina on 21 December again blooded in more ways than one,
the unit war diary records, "Lt SPARK sports a small bullet wound on the left wrist as evidence
of contact with the enemy'; during a patrol a couple of days earlier. In February 1945 the
Regunental Headquarters and 12th Battery moved into the northern sector at Puto on the western
coast, some 70 km north of Torokina and 10 km south of the Soraken By April the
peninsula was secure and the guns moved to that area. The advance up the Bonis Peninsula met
with dogged Japanese resistance in late May and Spark found himself back with a reinforced A
Company (190 people) of the 31st/51st Battalion. This force had been ordered to conduct an
outflanking attack by sea on the Porton Plantation area to cut off the enemy's lines. of
communication and reinforcement. The fIre units allocated in support were the 11th and 12th
Field and '2nd Mountain Batteries,

Lieutenant Spark took in ten people and was in the first wave onto the beach at 0400 hours, 8
June. They established "perfect communications" and all was quiet as a perimeter was confirmed
in the edge of the beach timber. However, they had landed some 250 metres north of their target
and between two pill boxes containing machine guns. The second wave carrying mainly stores
and ammunition grounded about 75 metres from the shore at 0435 hours and in, Spark's words
"all hell broke loose" as the surprised enemy saw the Australians wading ashore, in the first
morning light.

The OPO began registering the company perimeter with close artillery fire. "It was a very lively
affair and the infantry were really copping it", he modestly described the melee. "The orders that
went down were brief and quick and [the response was] effective and accurate. It was really a
challenge and I was so het up, the adrenalin was really racing around." Despite this shelling, the
Japanese machine-guns in the pillboxes continued to sweep the stranded barges and the beach.
Tactical Reconnaissance aircraft directed artillery fire into rear enemy positions.

By this time the troops had dug in and an active patrol programme aimed to destroy the machine
guns on their flanks. Enemy resistance increased throughout the morning as reinforcements
arrived by vehicle. By dusk it was estimated that some 300 Japanese were surrounding A
Company. At 1750 hours, the enemy began firing 50 mm mortars at the beleaguered Australians.
The attempt to bring in stores that evening was thwarted by a low tide and thick belts of fire
delivered by the Japanese onto the barges which were grounding some 200 metres from the
shore. The enemy continued attacking the A Company positions throughout the night, but were
held at bay.

By dawn on the second day (the 9th), the enemy strength had grown to about 400 and they
launched attacks on three sides, obviously intending a final blow. The Japanese attacked in
waves and were mowed down by the Australians who were being forced to withdraw and tighten
their perimeter on the beach edge. Under these conditions, the OPO party was unable to erect a
good aerial and spare batteries were on the abandoned barges. The calls for fire became weaker
till Spark went off the air. He took his signaller (Gunner RJ. Lee) and three others with the dead
radio and moved out through a hail of small arms fire to one of the stranded barges to obtain
fresh batteries and/or use the craft's radios to continue directing fire support.

It was decided to withdraw the company group under the cover ofdarkness that evening, despite
there being a low tide which would necessitate the men wading out to the waiting armoured
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landing craft. However, by noon, the position was becoming untenable and, with ammunition
running low, A Company requested the withdrawal of rear troops immediately. By 1400 hours,
Corsair aircraft had reached Porton and were striking opportunity targets to cover the
withdrawal. At 1440 hours a message stated, "We are now on the beach and getting hell".

Though artillery ammunition was reaching a critical level, David Spark's call for fIre met with an
immediate response and rounds crashed down within 50 metres of the A Company perimeter.
When queried whether the fIre was too close, "Bring it a little closer" was the reply. The OPO
crept the fIre to within 25 metres. The commanding officer of4th Field was on the gun position
and advised Spark that he was about to change from the almost depleted Charge Three to Charge
Super. With such a close fall of shot, this could well prove disastrous, but the CO assured the
OPO that he would personally supervise the calculations required so that the fIre on current
targets would be maintained without the need for reverting to adjustment some distance away. "It
was a terrifying experience", recalled David Spark, ''you got the shell landing before you heard
. the report [of the gun fIring]". "I'm going to get these bastards", observed the OPO as he
continued pouring in the rounds as close as 25 metres from his own troops. "It did quieten them
down", he mused.

By 1630 hours, there were some 16 aircraft offering close air support. They were directed to
strafe as close as 50 metres ahead of the company perimeter. At that time also, three armoured
landing craft beached at Porton under cover of smoke and high explosive artillery fIre directed
by 4th Field Regiment OPO Captain John Whitelaw in a heavy landing craft further offshore.
Machine gunners on the assaulting craft raked the enemy positions with murderous fIre till they
were killed by retaliating fIre. The beach was cleared in fIve minutes and one barge withdrew.
Unfortunately the other two were overloaded and remained stuck fast. Volunteers disembarked
without thought of the Japanese machine guns and one of the lightened vessels managed, to
withdraw. .

Spark did not recall how he got into one of the withdrawing barges but was still directing fIre. He
was admonished by a sergeant for exposing himself, particularly after rounds impacted nearby,
showering shrapnel and rendering the OPO's body red with his own blood. "I could see them
[the Japs] coming out down onto the beach against a background of plantation growth and they
were easily skittled ..." Spark recalled, "they were mad-kamikaze-type" he concluded.

The fInal stranded craft floated off on the tide at 2240 hours that evening, by which time
Lieutenant Spark and the four members of his barge OP were safely back at the gun position, his
bombardier with shrapnel wounds to the right arm and the OPO himself WoUnded all over by
shrapnel, but remaining on duty till he had sent a message to the gun batteries via Regimental
Headquarters: "My congratulations and sincere thanks for your full cooperation during Porton
operation. Arty support was,excellent in every way. Good show Gunners." "I drank my quota of
beer and 1 was loaded onto the ship for home", he recalled making light of the wounds he
sustained.

The soldiers who had jumped overboard to lighten the landing craft suffered mixed fortunes.
Some were killed or wounded before they could wade to one of the original abandoned landing
craft, some began to swim the 5000 metres to a nearby island, and the remainder were rescued
piecemeal by successive attempts using rafts dropped by aircraft, assault boats and landing craft
guided by aerial observation. Gunner E.W. Glare, though wounded, survived the swim to
Torokori Island, the OP sergeant and three other Gunners were all wounded but successfully
evacuated at 0200 hours on 10 June. Gunner H.B. Payne was missing believed killed.
Throughout and until the last vessel left the area about 0330 hours on II June, OPO Captain



Sabretache Vol XLVII No. 1 - March 2006_...__._-._-'
r--.---------------------------------- ",
l... .... _

John Whitelaw continued to provide effective fire support and covering fire for the rescue
operations.

The 31st/51st Australian Infantry Battalion's report on the Porton operation concluded that "The
force had fought a continuous action against a numerically superior enemy, both in man-power
and weapons ... Out of the IQ officers and 180 other ranks comprising the PORTON landing
force, eight officers and 168 other ranks were accounted for, including four dead and 101
wounded. Missing amounted to 2 officers ar..d 12 other ranks." The missing included Captain
H.C. Downs, the officer commanding the force. Whilst the full enemy casualties will never be
known,·a conservative estimate was 147 confirmed killed and 50 probables.

NX47054 Lieutenant David Frey Spark MC was discharged from the Army on medical grounds
in September 1945. In December of that year, he was presented with his Military Cross by the
Governor-General at Kirribilli House, Sydney. Gunner Robert James Lee, the signaller who
accompanied Spark to the abandoned landing craft and re-established communications was
awarded .the Military Medal.

David Spark took a year to settle down after the war then became a company secretary working
for several organisations including the AMA before going into private consulting. He retired
from ill health in 1983 and became a TPI pensioner in 1984. He was a generous man, generous
in his friendship, generous in his contribution in time and effort to the community and
organisations to which he belonged. David was most generous to the welfare of his former
comrades by his regular, substantial donations to the funds of the 4th Field Regiment RAA AIF
Unit Association. He passed away in 2000 at 84 years of age.
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Sub-Lieutenant Michael C. Blagg RANI

In answering the question "Is Anzac Day central to Australian conceptions of national identity?"
the short answer is undoubtedly yes; however to explain why, it is necessary to explore the entire
notion of what the Australian national identity is and how it is fonned. I do this by fIrstly
defining the characteristics that comprise our national identity, and then looking at how the
Anzac experience has helped shape this identity. I argue that this is a contrived image, which is
exclusionary, its relevance increasingly questioned in a multicultural Australia. I explore the
impact of the Vietnam anti-war movement and feminism on the Anzac mythology, which played
some part in Anzac Day receding in popularity. This brings us full circle to the conscious
invigoration of Anzac Day that occurred in the mid 1980s, that resulted in the resurgence and
continuance of the Anzac myth as central to the Australian national identity.

In defming the Australian national characteristic during the Great War, Thompson describes the
Anzac as "Enterprising and independent, loyal to his mates and to his country, bold in battle, but
cheerfully undisciplined out of the line and contemptuous of military etiquette and the British
officer class."2 This conception of an Anzac encapsulates the ideals of masculinity; it focuses on
male bonding and egalitarianism as the major characteristics of Australianness. Inglis highlights
" ...comradeship, loyalty to mates. Also initiative,individuality..."3Both of these descriptions of
Anzacs portray an Anglo Celtic male persona, and are essentially a rehash of Bean's Australian
Bushmen image of the late 19th Century.4

The Anzac myth was originally created by the Great War historian C.W. Bean. That is not to say
that Bean deliberately set out to exaggerate the characteristics of the Australian soldiers who
fought in the Great War, but as Thomson succinctly put it "a legend [the Digger] was created not
by excluding the varieties and contradictions of digger experience, but by using selection,
simplifIcation and generalisation to represent the complexity."5 As McLachlan states, the Anzac
legend "is probably a necessary fIction for [the purpose of] vigorous nationality."6 In essence the
Anzac myth was a contrived and ritualised image7, created for a number of reasons, primarily to
be utilised as a lLlifying force for the Australian nationalist cause as well as a recruiting tool.

The newly created Anzac myth had an important impact on Australian society during the
interwar years. During this period, Anzac Day proved popular as a day of commemoration and
remembrance fo:- those who served, however it was also an exclusionary event. As much as the
legend served to act asa focus of national pride, the elevated status of the returned diggers
contributed to· an ongoing social struggle, as returned servicemen were given preferential
treatment for employment over those who had not served. McLachlan argues that, "The diggcr
legend had never been a unifying force,"s and cites numerous instances whereby the Anzac and
Digger tradition resulted in the exclusion of large segments of society from effectively
participating in all manner of social activities. McLachlan argues that the Anzac legend "had

6

Sub-Lieutenant Blagg was the joint winner ofthe 2005 ADFA History Prize sponsored by the Society
A. Thomson, Anzac memories: Living with the Legend, Oxford University Press, Me1b, 1994, p. 26.
K. Inglis, 'Anzac Day and the Australian Military Tradition'. Current Affairs Bulletin, 64: 11, p. 5.
G. Serle, 'The Digger Tradition and Australian Nationalism', Meanjin Quarterly, June 1965, p. 152.
Thomson, op. cit., p. 47.
N. McLachlan, 'Nationalism and the Divisive Digger', Meanjin Quarterly, September 1968, p. 303.
J. Beaumont, 'Rebirth of an Icon', The Australian (Anzac lift out), April 1988, p.6.
McLachlan, op. cit., p. 307.
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been 'profoundly divisive' as the returned soldiers had been encouraged to see themselves as
elite ... which deeply divided the Australian workforce.,,9

The period from the end of World War Two to the early 1980s was to prove the greatest
challenge for the Anzac legend; for many this era represented the beginning of the end for Anzac
Day. During the 1950s and 60s, attendance at Anzac Day marches steadily declined, and by the
early 1960s Anzac Day was the target of criticism, in particular through popular culture. Inglis
writes "Alan Seymour's popular play 'The One Day of the Year 'dramatised a rejection of the
[Anzac] tradition."1O This growing rejection of the Anzac legend was exacerbated by Australia's
invoivement in the Vietnam War, the growth of a large anti-war movement and the subsequent
polarisation of Australian society. As Joan Beaumont writes of the Vietnam War period, "Much
of the antagonism toward Anzac arose fromits identification with militarism.,,1l

The impact of feminism on this period should not be underestimated, both in at large and
within the armed forces. To feminists, the Anzac myth had always been fiercely masculine and
emphasised the denigration ofwomen and as Adrian Howe writes, "those women who served in
subsequent wars and commemorated Anzac Day, could never be seen as anything more than
intniders... or irrelevant if they marched."'2 What all these factors amounted too was that Anzac
Day crowds had shrunk to significantly smaller numbers by the mid 1970s.

So it becomes an interesting question to ask why, in the early 1980s, there is a resurgence in the
popularity of Anzac Day. Some of the reasons cited for its resurgence include the fact that the
World War One generation was dying out, and it was seen that they needed to be recognised.
Beaumont explains that during the early ,1980s, "there has been a conscious 'creation' of the
memory ofwar.,,13

This progressive reconstruction broadened the Anzac legend to be more inclusive of those who
had been previously excluded, so, as Minister Keating stated in 1988, ','We can remember
all Australians of whatever ethnic origin."14 In effect, from the 1980s onwards, "the Anzac Day
march ... though still imperially British for most of its length ... becomes muIticultural at the
rear.,,15 But were Australians of various ethnic backgrounds now identifying with the Anzac
legend? Were they able to relate the ceremony to their own ethnic experiences and memories?
Apparently yes, according to Inglis: "this broadening [of interest] is not confmed to the dawn
seryice and the march ... [includes] ethnic sub branches of the RSL.,,16

Itmay be argued that the resurgence of interest in maintaining the Anzaclegend in the 1980s was
fuelled by political concerns. This era witnessed massive socio-economic change through the
impacts of the fl\)ating of the dollar, the opening of Australia's borders, globalisation and the
'subsequent dilution of a unique national identity. Add to this the Gender and Employment
revolution which turned the lifestyle of the typical Australian family upside down. Further, the
rise of political parties like One Nation demonstrated a popular desire by many Australians to
see themselves as unique. It makes sense that the govemmrnt of the day wanted to latch onto
something to facilitate a sense of nationalism which at the same time did not negate

10
11

12

13

14
15
16

ibid., p. 307.
Inglis, op. cit, p. 12. .
Beaumont, op. cit., p.6.
A. Howe, 'Anzac mythology and the feminist challenge', Gender and war: Australians at war in the
twentieth century, Melbourne University Press,Melbourne 1995, p.303.
Beaumont, op. cit., p.6.
ibid., p. 6.
K. Inglis, Sacred Places, Melbourne University Press, Melbourne 1998, p. 474.
ibid., p. 476.
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multiculturalism, and what better vehicle was available to achieve this than Anzac Day?
Particularly as Anzac Day was becoming a construct for which a multicultural Australian
population could identify with.

One other major aspect of this resurgence of interest in Anzac Day was the increase in military
operations from the late 1980s, including the arguably righteous 1990 Gulf War, and the
peacekeeping operations in Cambodia, Somalia and Timor. All these operations provided an
image most Australians were happy to be identified with. Beaufort sums it up with the statement:
"In the 20th century, war - for better or worse - has been one of the [key] experiences for which
Australian identity has been defmed."'7

In conclusion, I would like to affirm that Anzac Day is central to Australian conceptions of
national identity. Equally, this Anzac image is largely a contrived image, created for a specific
purpose and that this image has continued on through a widely differing understanding of
popularity during the previous 90 years and in the present day. What has changed over the years
is the image and focus of Anzac Day, and it could be argued that this change of focus reflects
society in general. Australians like to identifY with an image of the Australian digger: an affable
chap, an egalitarian larrikin who works hard. It is a pleasant image. Unfortunately the Digger
myth is just that, a myth. The truth is that the Australian soldier was little better on average than
a soldier in the United States or Canadian armylS. What is amazing -and arguably proof of its
political importance - is that a myth which is so selective in its inclusiveness can and has
survived the post-war years intact.

--000--
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MAURICE VINCENT BUCKLEY VC
Anthony Staunton

The January edition of the Cematorian notes the 85th anniversary of the death of Maurice
Vincent Buckley VC the first Australian Victoria Cross recipient to pass away on return to
Australia. The Cematorian is produced by the Brighton Cemetorians, a not-for-profit community
group formed in 2005 with the aim of raisin g awareness of the Brighton General Cemetery. The
aim of the group is to work with and assist the Cemetery Trust and management of the Brighton
General Cemetery, one ofMelbourne's oldest and most significant burial grounds. The Brighton
Cemetorians website is at http://www.brightoncemetorians.orgl

Buckley originally enlisted with the Light Horse but.was returned home from Egypt in mid 1915
and sent to Langwarrin VD Hospital. Without permission he left the hospital and was declared a
deserter in early 1916. In the meantime a brother had enlisted in the AIF and had died of
meningitis before leaving Australia. Shortly after his brother's death, Buckley. re-enlisted in
Sydney on 6 May 1916 under the alias of 'Gerald Sexton', his brother's first name and his
mother's maiden name. In August 1918, Buckley was awarded the DCM and the following
month the VC. The article is online at

The Victoria Cross to Buckley was promulgated in the' London Gazette of 14 December 1918
under the name of Gerald Sexton but before being presented with the Victoria Cross he revealed
his alias. The Court Circular in The Times of30 May 1919 states that he received the Victoria
Cross from King George V at Buckingham Palace on 29 May 1919 as Sergeant Maurice
Buckley. On 8 August 1919, an amendment appeared in the London Gazette stating:

The notification of the award of the Victoria Cross to No. 6594 Serjeant Gerald Sexton, 13th Bn.,
A.LF., as announced in the London Gazette dated 14th, December, 1918, should read as being
awarded to No. 6594 Serjeant Maurice Vincent Buckley, 13th Bn., A.LF., the latter being the correct
Christian names and surname of this N.C.O., which he has been permitted to reassume.

--000--

History of the Army Reserve Battalion 8/7 RVR

Neil Leckie is researching the history ofthe Army Reserve Battalion 8/7 RVR. The battalion will
turn 150 years of age on 9 August 2008. The battalion has historical links with many towns in
Victoria and Southern NSW including Ballarat, Baeehus Marsh, LavertonIPoint Cook, Geelong,
Wa.'TIlambool, Port Fairy, Portland, Hamilton, Mildura, Red Cliffs, Swan Hill, Cobram, Echuea,
Deniliquin, Bendigo, Maryborough.

He is seeking information on the military in these towns and would appreciate details of any
histories of these towns that would be helpful. His contact details are: Major Neil Leekie,
Battalion 2IC, 8/7 RVR, 1806-1812 Sturt Street, Ballarat Vie 3350, Tel: 5333 1383 (Night) or
0400 573 802, email: nkaleckie@optusnet.com.au
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KNYVETTBROTHERS
IN THE BOERWAR AND FIRST WORLD WAR

John Meyers l

of the Military Historical Society of Australia who are interested in our Boer War
involvement would be familiar with the above photo ofmembers of the 5th Queensland Imperial
Bushmen (5th QIB) taken somewhere on the Veldt in South Africa in either late 1901 or early
1902. The soldier sitting on the first aid kit and wearing his possum fur puggaree is CSM Frank
Bemers Knyvett. Frank was only promoted to the rank of CSM on 28 September 1901, so
obviously the photo was taken after that date and the wearing of the possum fur puggaree was
specific to the 5th QIB.

Frank was born at Toowoomba in Queensland on 20 August 1880. He was the eldest son of
Edward Ferrers and Sarah Jane (nee Swann) Knyvett. His father was born at CarshaIton, Surrey,
England on 25 April 1834 and his occupation was farmer. It is not known when they migrated to
Australia.

Frank led a varied and challenging life throughout the world in both military and civilian
occupations. In 1977, his nephew claimed that his military career commenced with service in
Africa for which he was awarded the East and West Africa medal 1887-1900. This was followed
with service in the 1st Queensland Contingent to the Boer War as 147 Private in B Company.
His next ofkin was shown as his father from South Brisbane. The 1st Queensland Contingent left
Australia on 1 November 1899 on the transport Cornwall and returned to Brisbane on
17 January 1901 and was disbanded on 23 January 1901.

I John Meyers is always looking for additional information and photos of any of the 507 Australian and
New Zealand officers who died as a result of service on Gallipoli. If you can assist please contact John
Meyers, PO Box 743, Maryborough Qld 4650 or email: johnmeyers@daleandmeyers.com.au. website
www.anzacs.org
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Forty two days later on 6 March 1901 he returned to South Africa on the transport Templemore
as 296 Sergeant with the 5th QIB. As mentioned earlier he was promoted to CSM on 28
September 1901. A number of on the Boer War mention him and in particular his
actions during the 5th QIB's most significant involvement with the Boers at Onverwacht on
4 January 1902. To quote part of an entry in the diary of 15 Private D W Priest 5th QIB:

The Boers tried hard to get our pom-poln, they shot two horses and wounded two men belonging to it.
The escort to it cleared out and left one officer and about four men to fix it up and put the horses right.
The escort was IY's (Imperial Yeomanry). Frank Knyvett worked hard rallying the men together to
save the pom-pom and we did by the skin ofour teeth.

In Kitchener's despatch of 8 March 1902 Frank was mentioned for gallantry in action at
Onverwacht on 4 January 1902. He was again mentioned in Kitchener's fmal despatch of 23
June 1902.2 This was followed on 31 October 1902 with a Distinguished Conduct Medal for
coolness and gallantry in action at Onverwacht. He was also one ofnine members of the 5th QIB
to be a recipient ofQueen Alexandra's Pipes 1902. The remarks column ofthe award state:

Recently appointed as the Sergeant Major of his company. Rendered good service as a Sergeant and
continued same as a CSM. Behaved excellently under fire on 6th Dec 1901 and on 4th Jan 1902 in
leading his men. Also served throughout with the 1st QMI.

The 5th QIB returned to Brisbane on 30 April 1902 and was disbanded on 5 May 1902. Fourteen
days later on 19 May 1902 Frank is off again as a Lieutenant in B Squadron of the 7th Battalion
Australian Commonwealth Horse (7ACH) under the command of Lieutenant Colonel Henry
George Chauvel. 7ACH was a wholly Queensland unit and B Squadron covered enlistments
from the Darling, Western Downs and Border Districts.

The unit left Pinkenba at Brisbane on the transport Custodian on 19 May 1902 and arrived at
Durban on 22 June 1902. As peace had already been declared they departed for home on 28 June
1902, arrived Brisbane on 2 August 1902 and disbanded on 9 August 1902. Due to the poor and
arduous conditions that soldiers served under in South Africa there would have been few men
that equalled his length of service. From 1November 1899 to 9 August 1902 he spent 56 days in
Queensland and most of them would have still have had military involvement.

Apparently he was somewhat of a wanderer because he immediately left for New Zealand at the
age of 22 years. In 1905 he was appointed to a commission as a Lieutenant in the New Zealand
Garrison Artillery and in 1906 he was promoted to Captain. In February 1905 in New Zealand he
married Frances Harding Avelland. There were no children from this marriage.

In 1915 he was appointed to a commission in the Royal Field Artillery with the rank of
Temporary Major. It is not known how he ended up with the British Forces. However, we do
know that he served in German West Africa, Belgium, France, Mesopotamia, India and
Afghanistan and at the cessation of hostilities he was either a Lieutenant Colonel or Colonel. For
his First World War service he was mentioned in despatches on 4 January and 18 May 1917 and
was created a Companion of the Distinguished Service Order on 4 June 1917.

After First World War nothing was heard by the family of Frank until shortly after the
commencement ('f Second World War. It would appear that he wrote a letter to the Brisbane
Courier-Mail requesting them to locate his brother Eric Lawrence Knyvett who also served in
First World War with the 1st and 5th Australian Divisional Artillery. As Eric was living in

2 The despatches were published in the London Gazette on 25 April and 29 July 1902. Frank's name
appears on pages 4854 and 6909 respectively. Onverwacht is located in the southeast ofTransvaal.
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Sydney, the Courier-Mail passed the letter on to the Sydney Sun newspaper who contacted the
family.

As a result of this communication it was then learnt that Frank went to America after First World
War and became involved in and spent the rest of his life associated with physiotherapy and
chiropractics. He was the originator of a system of therapy known as "plasmatic therapy" and
was founder and president of Physical Medical Company, Indianapolis, Indiana. He was also a
member of the National Chiropractic Association ofAmerica.

It would appear that he retired to Lake Worth, Florida because he died there on Monday 22 June
1956, in his 76th year. He was the author ofnumerous papers on chiropractic and therapy.

Medals awarded to Frank are:

• Distinguished Service Order (GV)
• Distinguished Conduct Medal (EV11)
• East and West Africa Medal 1887-1900 (bar unknown)
• Queen's South Africa Medal with bars RotK, OFS, T. (Possibly CC)
• King's South Africa Medal with bars SA01 and 02
• 1914-15 Star
• British War Medal 1914-1920
• Victory Medal 1914-1919 with mention in despatches clasp

Capt RHugh Knyvett

Some members of the Military Historical Society of Australia would be familiar with a book
written by his brother Capt R Hugh Knyvett titled Over there with the Australians. Hugh was
born a! South Brisbane on 15 September 1886. At the outbreak of First World War he was
training for the Presbyterian ministry and joined the AIFin Sydney as a Private with the 14th
reinforcements to the 7th Battalion in October 1915.
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Hugh transferred to the 59th Battalion and served most of his time as a scout. In 1916 he
received his appointment as a Lieutenant and later promoted to Captain. He was invalided back
to Australia with more than twenty shrapnel wounds including a paralysed leg. In 1917 he
decided to travel to England with the intention of joining the Royal Flying Corps. He travelled
via America where he met and married on 19 November 1917, LiIlian Maude the daughter ofa
noted English stage actor by the name ofCyril Maude.

It soon became apparent that the effects of his wounds would preclude him from any further
military service. Consequently, he became involved with groups of Americans who supported
America's participation in the hostilities. He began touring America on recruiting drives and
lecture toUrs, making joint appearances with Theodore Roosevelt. Hugli became a good friend
and house guest of the ex President who, on his death, described Hugh as ''the greatest orator I
have heard". Another contemporary report read "and I believe that the awakening ofAmerica to
the realities and significance of the war is due to the combined efforts of Captain Knyvett and
Colonel Roosevelt more than to any other cause".

On his death of his war wounds on 15 April 1918 the editorial in the New York Tribune, in
paying tribute to Hugh's valuable recruiting work, read ''we salute the memory of the gallant
Anzac and through him, our brave ally in the Pacific". A group of his associates in Chicago
commissioned a noted sculptor to execute a bust of him and this was presented to his mother
who in turn, presented it to the Brisbane Museum.

The third brother, Eric Lawrence Knyvett, born at South Brisbane on 23 January 1889, who was
previously mentioned, enlisted in Sydney on 12 August 1914 under the name of Jack Lawrence.
He served in Egypt, Gallipoli, France and Belgium and on discharge had attained the rank of
Battery Quartermaster Sergeant. He was reputed as stating that his only claim to fame was that
he rode a British General's horse up the front steps of Shepherds Hotel in Cairo. Eric married
Gladys Maria Geer at Woolahra NSW on 12 November 1919. They had four children born
between 1928 and 1936.

When you look at the photo of the 5th QIB with Frank sitting on the frrst aid kit eating his meal
it is hard to imagine him as a later Colonel in the First World War and an early chiropractic
practitioner in America.

--000--

Missing Medals Lt SS Woods MC
Be on the lookout for The medals ofLt SS Woods MC, 27 Bn AIF and VX63973, went missing
from the family home and are anxiously sought by his daughter. It's a group of eight plus
miniatures: MCIWWI trio/WW2 Pacific Star group. Please forward any information to
p.skrebels@unisa.edu.au or to the editor.
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THE SEARCH FOR LT COL F W BELL VC
PART 2
James C Briggs

A chance contact in May 2005 put me in touch with Anthony Staunton, the current Editor of
Sabretache, the j01.!mal that had published my original account of the search for Lieutenant
Colonel Frederick William Bell VC in 1997.3 It was suggested that I update the story.

In 1996, after I had submitted Fred's story for publication (Sabretache 1997:38/2:3-12) I had felt
that my researches were complete. However, there was still the problem of the grave. In late
August it became clear that the Royal British Legion had been successful in their efforts to find
WW2 names to go on the local War memorial, 127 were eventually found. I thought another
approach might be worthwhile. The outcome of this was that, with their great help, and
especially that of Brigadier Joe Starling, the money for refurbishment was found just before
Remembrance Sunday 1996. The BBC were sufficiently interested to make a short film for TV
and an interview for radio. Tragically, Joe Starling died a few weeks later, after a long illness.

I had heard from the stonemason that the actual refurbishment would take place in a few weeks,
in very early January 1997. I closed my folder on Fred, only to have to open it again a day or two
later! Georgina Harvey, the BBC reporter who had set up the radio and TV interviews rang and
said that the Australian press were interested in the story; could I please give her another
interview and take her to the grave so that she could take some photos. A suitable date was made
and she took her photos and made notes. I expressed some doubt about the chances of her piece
ever being printed, but she seemed confident.

All went quiet again until lunch time on Sunday 15 December when a man rang our door bell
and said that he was Barry Southgate and that he lived around the corner. He had just come back
from Perth in Western Australia where, on Sunday 8 December in the WA Sunday Times, he had
read an article by Georgina which described my efforts to fmd out about Fred. He had been
fascinated with the story and wondered if I would like the appropriate page to keep, since he'd
bought it all the way back with the object ofletting me have it!

The paper carried a second piece, this time about Fred's medals and how they came to Australia
via Canada. Apparently Fred's step-son had emigrated there and it was he who had sold it to the
London dealer. Another piece of the jig-saw had fallen into place.

Christmas Eve bought an unexpected letter from Australia - from Edward Keenan a great
grandson of Rosetta, one of Fred's aunts. He too gave me a copy of the article; he also thanked
me deeply for my efforts with the grave!

As promised, in mid January 1997 the grave was neatly restored. Another twist came at about
8.30 am on 7 March 1997. Our phone rang and the voice at the other end said that he was a John
Bissett, ringing from Perth in WA. His wife was a great niece of Fred; they too had seen the
newspaper article and could I please tell them more! I sent them a copy of my story and gave
them Edward Keenan's address, they didn't know of him. Later, in June 2000 on a European
holiday, they visited us and saw the grave. They told me that a street had recently been named
after Fred, Fred Bell Parade, in the Perth suburb of Victoria Park after new evidence revealed

3 James C Briggs. The search for Lt-Col F W Bell VC, Sabretache, Vo!. XXXVIII, No. 2, April-June
1970, pp. 3-12. A .pdf copy of this article is available through INFORMIT or from the Editor. See
James CBriggs website http://www.briggs13.fsnet.co.uk

Copyright of Full Text rests with the original copyright owner and, except as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, copying this material is ,pr?hibited without the permission of the owner or
its exclusive licensee or agent or by way of a licence from Copyright Agency Limited. For information about such licences contact Copyright Agency Limited on (02) 93947600 (ph) or (02) 93947601 (fax)
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that Fred had lived there for a few months working as a local government employee. Edward
Keenan died a couple ofyears later.

In October 1997, I deposited all my papers about Fred in the newly opened Empire and
Commonwealth Museum housed in Isarnbard Kingdom BruneI's old (1830) railway station in
Bristol.

A couple of years passed and, on 16 May 2001 the centenary of Fred's deed was honoured with
a ceremony around his grave. I had alerted the Royal British Legion of this anniversary. They
arranged, and paid for, a further refurbishment of the grave, which had become a little green
since 1997. As well as the Legion's representatives, those present also included J. N. Tidrnarsh,
MBE, JP, the Lord Lieutenant of Bristol, Lieutenant Colonel Mike Phelps, Australian Army and
Colonel Brian John, the head of the local branch of the Royal British Legion. Wider coverage
had been given on I May by the Bristol Times, a weekly historical supplement to the Bristol
Evening Post, which published a half page article on the results of my efforts to fmd out more
about Fred.

The ceremony itself, conducted by Canon Roy Harrison, Chaplain to the Gloucestershire County
branch of the Legion, consisted of a siniple 30 minute grave-side service with flag bearers and a
bugler from the Legion. Very dignified and appropriate. Fred would have been extremely proud.
The sun even shone!

J. N. Tidmarsh, MBE JP, the Lord Lieutenant of Bristol, a Royal British Legion flag bearer,
Lieutenant Colonel Mike Phelps, Australian Army, Colonel Brian John, the head of the local branch
of the Royal British Legion and Canon Roy Harrison, Chaplain to the Gloucestershire County branch
of the Legion.

Although I had long thought Fred's story to be complete, in August 2003 I was surprised, yet
again, to receive an email from Michelle Cracklow in Canada, the granddaughter of George,
Fred's stepson. It bought disturbing new revelations about Fred's later years. It read:

Fred and his fit'st wife Isabelle travelled the world together during his war posting. I have some of her
souvenirs she purchased on her travels.

I can't recall how she died but Fred then married my great grandmother Brenda Cracklow. They lived
across the river from each other and were friends before Isabelle passed away. Brenda's first husband
passed away of cancer in 1931. Brenda had had four children with George Agnew Cracklow named;
Douglas, Cynthia, George, and Mary. George Agnew CrackIow's grave can be visited in Simmons
Vat at tne old church on the river. He was an architect and was the man who built Darklands in 1912.
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I was there in 1999 and George's grave was in vel)' good condition.

Brenda then married Fred and he moved in with her at Darklands. It was named Darklands because of
all the trees surrounding the house. Maty, one ofBrenda's children, resided with them.

The rest of the children went off to war. My Grandfather George Junior, also known as Anthony,
married my grandmother Emma Britland and they had two children, Barbara and Christopher. I know
you don't really want the info on my family but there is a reason I am telling you this. Fred may have
been a courageous man at some point but, once he married Brenda and retired, he was a whole
different man. As Fred never had any of his own children, his medals where passed on to George
Junior. My father Christopher and my Grandfather emigrated to Canada in 1972 with their families.
My grandfather was diagnosed with cancer and discussed with my dad that he would be the next to
receive the medals. They both decided that, since Fred was not a blood relative, and since Fred had
done something unspeakable to some family members, then our family did not want to keep the
medals as a reminder any longer. So they sold the VC and the others in the late 1980's for SCI4,000. I
am not sure of the date. Brenda lived her final days with her daughter Maty, since they were both on
their own. Maty died in 1997 and is placed next to Brenda, who died in 1982, near Worcester. Fred
spent his last years in a hospital in Hereford for the mentally ill. He was moved to a nearby hospital
where he passed away.

I am sorry if this becomes a shock to you after all the research you have done but, as you know
histol)', is not always what is documented.

This is why our family has not looked after his grave and why the Medals were sold. Our family did
give him a proper burial when he died. My father Christopher Cracklow still has the miniatures.
Cynthia and Douglas are still alive and well and residing in England; however George (deceased
1990)and Maty (deceased 1997) have been gone some time now and dearly missed. I hope I have
been of some help as to how he spent his retired years, why the VC was sold and how it came to
Canada. -If you have further questions please do not hesitate to ask.

Sincerely,

Michelle Cracklow

My medical background leads me to guess that Fred, who married Brenda Cracklow when he
was 69, may well have suffered from Alzheimer's disease, known as 'senile dementia' at that
time. This could have been responsible for his bizarre behaviour.

, '

Although the above story seemed genuine" it did contain some discrepancies with known details.
Fred's obituary in the Times said that he 'died at Bristol', not in Hereford; Fred's ftrst wife was
called Mabel Mackenzie Valentini, not Isabelle as given above. Further enquiries, however,
revealed that a 'nearby hospital' was actually one nearer home in Bristol. 'Isabelle' was an error
in the family memory of the name of Fred's first wife. She was always known as 'Belle', short
for 'Mabel', and not 'Isabelle'.

In early September 2004 I was sent details of Fred's Death Certiftcate. He died in Stapleton
Hospital, Bristol, which I know had previously been 'Stapleton Workhouse', later Manor Park
Hospital and is currently called Blackberry Hill Hospital. His death was certified as due to
'arteriosclerosis' .

Later, in September 2003, Michelle (Stewart nee Cracklow) wrote again.

This is the information I have gathered thus far.

Fred and Brenda Cracklow (IIlingworth) knew each other as friends in Symonds Vat. They lived
across the river from one another. After Fred's wife passed away, Fred remarried to 'my great
grandmother Brenda. They resided together in Darklands, the house my great grandfather built in
1912. They married on Februaty 20, 1945.
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Brenda had four children from her first marriage. Fred had no children of his own. Brenda's children
are as follows:

• Mary Cracklow born March 30, 1913, deceased September 25,1997
• Douglas Cracklow born January 6,1917
• George Anthony Cracklow born May 15, 1919 Deceased November 6, 1990
• Cynthia Cracklow born May 6, 1922

George Cracklow was my grandfather.

Fred and Brenda travelled to Australia together for a VC ceremony. They lived there for six
months. Brenda tried to convince her children they should move there to live; however, they
declined the invitation. Brenda and Fred returned home.

Fred was diagnosed with mental illness and was relocated to a mental health hospital in Hereford
and was later moved to a closer hospital in Bristol to live out his remaining days. Fred passed
away on 28 April 1954.

It was George Cracklow that inherited the medals on Fred's behalf.

George relocated to Canada in 1973 with his wife Emma (Britland) to join his son Christopher
(my father) and daughter who had already relocated to Canada. George contracted cancer and
discussed with Chrlstopher that the medals would be passed on to him. They decided that they
would sell the medals and contacted Fred's surviving relatives to offer it to them.

They declined the offer, apparently for lack of funds. George was then asked by the Museum to
donate the VC. The Australian government eventually purchased the VC in the late 1980's for
14,000 Canadian dollars;

To this day my father still has the miniatures and I have enclosed a picture that he took of them
today for you to see. I hope I have been of some help to you all. I have tried to stick to the facts
and have left out some personal information to protect the privacy ofsome living relatives.

Later, the following photos (taken in 1946, when Fred was 71, before he and his wife, Brenda
went to Australia) were sent to me by Michelle Stewart, nee Cracklow. They were taken by, and
are currently owned by Emma Pauline Cracklow. The pictures included one of Brenda Bell,
Barbara Cracklow and Fred Bell and one of George Cracklow, his daughter Barbara Cracklow
and Fred Bell.
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The miniatures were offered to the WA Museum, which originally agreed to buy them. Later the
Museum changed its mind. The set was then likely to be auctioned some time in 2004. I later
heard that the family now don't intend to sell.

With these clarifications, and the eventual fate of the miniatures, this must surely be the final
chapter ofFred's life.

However, life is full of surprises and, on 11 July 2004, I' had the following message from Peter
Enlund, East Burwood,Victoria, Australia. .

You have cited the Duffie/ds ofHicton book and I have direct links with the Bell family. I am first
cousin five times removed to a Rosetta Bell, George's sister, b in 20 February 1812 in Greenwich.
Lydia and George had a daughter, also named Rosetta and so we can see where the name comes from.
George also has cousin, Rosetta Rebecca Bdl, who is my third great grand-aunt. Her grandfather,
Henry Trubshaw BELL b 1752 is my fifth great grandfather.

I have been researching the Bell family for less than a year but have had great success in tracing it
from afar. It was just yesterday that I received some research from the London Metropolitan Archives
with the baptismal records of Henry Trubshaw BELL and a few of his relatives back to 1695. I had
already ascertained that George Rutledge had. married into the family and learned of his journeys to
Australia. The fact that his George Bell accompanied him was a bolt out the blue as is the history that
has been documented by the Duffields ofSouth Australia.

I don't really expect anything else to turn up. However, several pictures ofFred's earlier life had
been sent to me. These, and others, along with links to Fred's family tree and extracts from 'The
Duffields of Bicton' can be seen in the full updated version of 'The Search for Fred Bell VC' at
http://www.briggs13.fsnet.co.uklfw.htm

[Editor] Having received the original article in May 2005 James Briggs forwarded the following
e-mail which was received in September 2005. Included with the e-mail were two photographs of
Fred, one ofwhich appears on the next page.

Hi lames

My name is Robert Dethridge. I am a grand nephew of Fred Bell. My mother Betty (nee Bell) being
one of Fred's brother Harry George Bell's children. Some years ago, I read our local Sunday Times
story about your wonderful efforts in bringing Fred's resting place and history to light but I only
happened across the full story on the internet this week. I was moved by the sheer effort and sincerity
displayed in your research and the onflow of activity from it.



l_ .. 2_?...... __ ....__. . . . _
---------.-----......--.------.--....-.....-....-.,

Sabretache Vol XLVII No. 1 March 2006

Lieutenant Colonel Frederick William Bell VC

I am contacting some ofmy other Bell related cousins and printing off copies of your stol)' for those
that may not have internet access. Only one of Fred's nieces, Pat Bell (86) presently survives. Pat
would have met Fred but, unfortunately, she is suffers dementia

Myself, my sister and my cousins have some mementos of Fred but, in line with modern day relatives,
exactly what we hold I cannot say.

I personally have 2 faded and moth eaten photos of Fred in full officer's uniform, previously having
rested in on the piano of his sister Eva Bell's house in Cottesloe (a house gifted to her by Fred) for
about 65 years or so. One is signed, both around 1916.

I still live in Cottesloe and recollect our Aunt Eva telling us stories about Fred and his brothers. I
knew the Bell house in Cottesloe vel)' well (my mother inherited it) and it is not the one in the photo
behind the early shot ofFred on a pony.

I also have an 1947 stol)' from our lccal press with a photograph of Fred meeting the last Western
Australian to win a VC. StOI)' entitled "First Meets Last". An oil painting by his artistic sister, Luna,
hangs on my lounge room wall as does a photo ofhis brother Hert.

Fred was possibly Cottesloe's first real hero. His photograph hung on the main wall of City of
Cottesloe council chambers for over 80 years (it may still be there). The only other photograph on the
same wall being of the King or Queen at the time.

--000--
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Lieutenant Colonel Frederick WilIiam Bell YC

I am contacting some of my other Bell related cousins and printing off copies of your story for those
that may not have intemet access. Only one of Fred's nieces, Pat Bell (86) presently survives. Pat
would have met Fred but,. unfortunately, she is suffers dementia.

Myself, my sister and my cousins have some mementos ofFred but, in line with modem day relatives,
exactly what we hold I cannot say. .

I personally have 2 faded and moth eaten photos of Fred in full officer's uniform, previously having
rested in on the piano of his sister Eva Bell's house in Cottesloe (a house gifted to her by Fred) for
about 65 years or so. One is signed, both around 1916.

I still live in Cottesloe and recollect our Aunt Eva telling us stories about Fred and his brothers. 1
knew the Bell house in Cottesloe very well (my mother inherited it) and it is not the one in the photo
behind the early shot ofFred on a pony.

I also have an 1947 story from our lccal press with a photograph of Fred meeting the last Western
Australian to win a YC. Story entitled "First Meets Last", An oil painting by his artistic sister, Luna,
hangs on my lounge room wall as does a photo of his brother Bert.

Fred was possibly Cottesloe's first real hero. His photograph hung on the main wall of City of
Cottesloe council chambers for over 80 years (it may still be there). The only other photograph on the
same wall being of the King or Queen at the time.

--000--
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GUNNER HISTORY
A MESSAGE FROM THE RAA REPRESENTATIVE

Colonel Commandant - Major General Tim Ford, AO (Retd)

The RAA Regimental Committee meeting on 26 October 2005 at the· School of Artillery,
Puckapunyal accepted the fIrst report from their Historical Sub-Committee (HSC) which wa')
formed on 19 August 2005.

The HSC Report dealt with some amendments to its Terms ofReference, the concept ofa series
of projects covering the span of Gunner history, comments on the RAA network and publicity,
contacts which may usefully assist, how the ''product'' may be· presented, the need for oral
histories, aspects of research, fmance, the importance of RAA and unit associations in this
endeavour, RAA museums and collections. Recommendations were made and a list of identified
projects presented.

This report was accepted by the Regimental Committee.

The need to inform the Gunner community of this initiative was deemed to be a prioritY task.
This, therefore, is an "initial release".

It is hoped that it will be given a wide exposure in our various Gunner newsletters and journals
and throughout the Gunner family. It is appreciated that releases such as this will need to be
succinct, informative, consistent and regular.

The HSC has a fairly wide spread from the point of view of artillery experience and geography:
David Brook (field, proof and experimental, ARA and ARES, SA), Kevin Browning (locating
and field, instructional, ARA, NSW), Arthur Burke (field, ARA and ARES, QLD), Graham
Farley (field, ARES, VIC), Don Rae (field, ARES, WA) with John Whitelaw (field and coast,
ARA and ARES, ACT) as chairman. To these will be added ex officio members from the RAA
Historical Company and the National Artillery Museum (Army History Unit):

There are others who have agreed to assist with their expertise, knowledge and talents such as
Keith Glyde (TAS), Alan Smith (NS W), Don Tier (ACT) hopefully to be joined by David
Spethman (QLD) and others who feel they may contribute. We hope to give more about
contributors in future releases.

The important message is that the HSC has taken a broad look at the history of artillery in
Australia; its nature, personnel, locations, guns, equipment, technology, records, publications,
museums and collections, contributors, associations, the Gunner network, lineage, dress, customs
and traditions, and other aspects. .

This overview was made with the intent, as expressed in its Terms of Reference, "that the history
of the Australian Artillery is fully and accurately recorded." It also took account of the aims, the
guidance and the provisions of Defence instructions (Army) No 34-1 "Management of Army
History" and 34-2 "Management and Operation ofArmy Museums and Heritage".

The HSC concluded that the five branches in the Regiment (coast, field, air defence, anti-tank,
locating) each had a technical and a personal side. Some aspects were "overarching" in the sense
that they affected more than one branch. HSC took the view that the overall field should be
covered by a series of manageable interlocking projects. Some duplication would be acceptable
such as dealing with radar in a discrete project and with the particular application of radar in
fIelds of coast, air defence, searchlights, locating and meteorology in other projects. Hopefully
gaps would be avoided.

Copyright of Full Text rests with the original copyright owner and, except as permitted under the Copyright Act 196,8, copying this material is ,pr?hibited without the permission of the owner or
its exclusive licensee or agent or by way of a licence from Copyright Agency Limited. For information about such licences contact CopYright Agency Limited on (02) 93947600 (ph) or (02) 93947601 (fax)
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From this review twenty six projects have evolved and are· being further defined.. It is the
intention of the HSC to have a team leader for each project who will contact others with a like
interest to gather material and information about the designated project Already some team
leaders have been identified, the HSC hopes the interest ofothers will be sparked as news of this
initiative spreads through the Gunner network.

A list of the Projects and contacts has been made available to the Colonels Commandant in each
region, to RAA units, the RAA associations, RAA Historical Company, RAA Historical Society
ofWA! The National Artillery Museum (AHU), and throughout the known Gunner network.

History sub committee project list
I. . An RAA Bibliography - to aid research in Gunner history_

2. Australian Gunners - a biographical dictionary of Gunners who have distinguished
themselves in the Regiment and/or public life.

3. Australia's Forts and Batteries - a listing ofAustralia's forts with a view to assessing future
action including the possibility ofheritage listing.

4. The National Artillery Register - a register of extant artillery pieces in Australia as a basic
reference in the history of the RAA.

5. Australia's Coastal Guns - a single source of reference for coastal artillery in Australia up
the 1960 including details ofguns, radar, searchlights and fire control instruments.

6. Australia's Air Defence Guns and Missiles - a single source of reference of air defence
equipments used by the RAA including guns, missiles, sound detectors, radar, searchlights
and fire control instruments.

7. RAA Historical Publications - to assist the publishing of historical works on behalf of the
RAA community.

8. RAA Unit Histories • to identify gaps in the available range of RAA unit histories and to
encourage appropriate publications.

9. RAA Lineage - to record and present the lineage of each unit of the RAA and colonial
artilleries.

10. Australian Artillery Dress - a conspectus of dress, insignia and accoutrements worn by the
colonial artilleries and the RAA.

11. RAA Oral History - to identify existing holdings of Gunner oral history and initiate a
program to expand them.

12. Artillery Trophies - to record the nature, location and history of major artillery trophies of
the colonial artilleries and the RAA.

13. RAA Electronic Records - to locate and list electronic records bearing on the history of the
RAA to include sound records, tape, disc, film and video.

14. RAA Counter Bombardment - a single source of reference covering all aspects of target
acquisition and surveillance artillery methods, equipments and instruments.

15. RAA Pictorial - to compile a reference to, and location of, sketches, photographs, maps and
paintings significant in the history ofAustralian artillery.

16. Anti-tank Artillery· a single source of reference to anti-tank equipments that have been in
RAA service.
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17. Moving the Guns - to cover the movement of fight, field, medium, heavy, air defence, anti-

tank, and pack artillery in Australian service. To include the use ofoxen, horses, mechanical
transport both wheeled and tracked, parachute, air and sea transport, and repository.

18. Australia's Field Artillery - to take the story of field branch artillery forward from where
'Guns of the Regiment' concluded in 1981. To include details of artillery instruments
associated with field branch such as sights, directors, computers, GPS, etc.

19. RAA Honours and awards - as a first priority to compile a reference list of Australian
Gunners who have been decorated for valour, gallantry, bravery or distinguished service in
the field. Then of those who have been recognised for distinguished service.

20. RAA Communications - to illustrate and detail artillery communication methods and
equipment from hand and flag signals through to the present day;

21. Artillery Ammunition - to list the various natures of artillery ammunition in its separate
components and forms, its handling, storage and magazine regimes while in artillery
custody.

22. Air Observation - to cover aerial observation for the guns in the Australian artillery from
balloons, air force cooperation, fixed and rotary wing aircraft to remotely controlled aerial
vehicles.

23. Meteorology for Artillery - to describe the influence of meteorological conditions on
effective artillery fire and the arrangements for obtaining data for the coast, field and air
defence branches and for counter bombardment

24. RAA Radar - to bring together details of all radar used by the RAA for coast, air defence,
searchlights, locating and meteorological purposes, including the development and training
involved.

25. Searchlights - to cover the use of searchlights in coastal artillery, air defence and movement
light, to include arrangements for control, the use ofradar and sound locators.

26. RAA Traditions and Customs - to collect in a single volume a definitive reference work on
the customs and traditions of the RAA and colonial artilleries,
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VIVA LA MUERTE!-A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE
SPANISH FOREIGN LEGION

Graham Wilson 1

In October 1975 King Hassan II of Morocco engineered a popular movement aimed at ousting
the Spanish colonial power from Spanish Morocco and incorporating the colony into the
Kingdom of Morocco. The world watched tensely as King Hassan's 250,000 unarmed "Green
Marchers" approached the heavily mined border with the Spanish colony, intent on forcing Spain
into an action that would lead to its condemnation in the eyes of the world. In the end, the
marchers turned back at the last moment, having made their point. The Spanish government
passed a law to decolonise their Saharan territory and undertook to withdraw completely by
February 1976. .

As we all know, "independence" for Spanish Sahara, now known as Western Sahara, has led, not
to joyous freedom and prosperity for the populous, but to a protracted three way war as
Mauretaniaand Morocco squabble between themselves and fight with the Polisario freedom
fighters of the former colony. The long running UN mission in the territory, MINURSO, has
included a number ofAustralians. The point I want to make here, however, is that in 1975, at the
height of the "Green March" crisis, the world's TV viewers were introduced fleetingly to a
fighting force that most had never even heard of, the Spanish Foreign Legion. It had been the
Legion's 3rd and 4th Tercios that had stood ready behind the minefields, prepared to repel the
"Green Marchers" and the sight of the hard bitten, sUn tanned legionaries in their distinctive
Saharan uniforms had aroused some, admittedly short lived, interest.

The aim of this paper is to introduce the audience to this little known, odd, even bizarre fighting
force, with a short but bloody history and a very special place in modem Spanish history. The
Spanish Foreign Legion, officially the "Tercio de Extranjeros " (Regiment of Foreigners) but
never referred to by its members, serving and former, as anything other than "la Legion de
Extranjeros " or simply "la Legion ", is an organization that grew naturally out of Spain's
African adventurism. Long past its former globe conquering glory and humbled by its defeat in
the Spanish American War of 1896-97, Spain, more Correctly many influential people and
groups in Spain, was desperate to ·recover some semblance ofpast glory. The road to such a form
of national salvation seemed to lie in Africa arid from the turn of the 20th century, successive
Spanish administrations continued to make stealthy inroads into Moroccan sovereignty.

Unfortunately for Spain the pre-eminent .North African power, France, at first actively worked
against Spanish ambitions. In 1904, however, recognizing both that there was more than enough
of the Moroccan pie to go around and also that·Spanish occupation of the Moroccan coastline to
the west of Algeria represented a useful buffer zone, France entered into a secret agreement with
Spain. The agreement recognized the northern zone ofMorocco as a zone of
influence", while reserving the right to encroach further to the southwest. Needless to say,
neither France nor Spain bothered to consult with the Moroccan people or authorities about this,
nor even tell them! For several years Spain was happy to sit in the northern zone, desultorily
carrying out a program of limited colonization and some economic exploitation, notably potash

This paper was originally presented to the ACT Branch of the Society. It follows an earlier talk by
Graham Wilson on Guerra Marina 1936-39; The Spanish Civil War at Sea" which appeared in
Sabretache, Vo!. XLV, No. 1; March 2004, pp. 21-36.
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and nitrate mining. When in 1911, however, France occupied Fez, far to the south, however, the
Spanish felt obliged to sally out of their five garrison towns into the hinterland.

Ostensibly designed to extend the authority of the largely puppet Sultan of Morocco over the
interior, the move was actually nothing more than an effort to assert Spanish authority more
forcefully. Unfortunately, the kaby/es or tribes of the RifT, resentful of Spain but willing to live
and let live so long as the Spanish stayed on the coast, actively, savagely, bloodily and fairly
successfully resisted early Spanish moves. At least the Spanish activity resulted in a formal, and
this time non-secret, Protectorate Treaty with France in 1912. This treaty formally recognized
Spanish control of the northern area of Morocco, as shown on this map. The treaty did not,
however, physically secure Morocco for Spain as the kaby/es remained determined to resist all
Spanish attempts at pacification.

To enforce its writ across its North African holdings, Spain relied on a hotchpotch army made up
of volunteers, recalled reservists and, after 1912, conscripts serving in "African Battalions'; and
on locally enlisted mercenary troops termed Regu/ares. Spain's military efforts were not helped
by the largely unprofessional nature of the Spanish officer corps. While reasonably well
educated by contemporary standards, Spanish officers were hampered by outdated, outmoded
and unimaginative training, rigid tactical doctrine, obsolete equipment, promotion based strictly
on seniority and a culture that encouraged sloth rather than diligence. The very best of the
officers tended to gravitate towards Africa. One reason for this was that here was an avenue to
military glory and, if lucky, early advancement. Another attraction was the extra pay and the
ability to actually live on one's base pay rather than in a state ofpermanent debt, as was the case
for junior officers serving in Spain itself. As with the best of the officers volunteering to serve in
Africa, the best ofTHESE gravitated towards the Moorish Regu/ares. These irregular mercenary
levies founded in 1911 by Berenguer, were to shoulder more and more of the burden of the
fighting as Spain forced its presence on more and more of the country. One of the officers
attracted

to serve with the Regulares was Juan Jose MilIan Astray. Born in 1880 Millan Astray had served
in the Philippines as a junior officer during the Spanish American War. Spain's humiliation in
the war was to him a personal humiliation. Charismatic, fanatically brave,· deeply religious and
nationalistic to the point of xenophobia, Millan Astray saw in Africa the chance for Spain to
regain its lost glory. For that reason, he was one of the first officers to volunteer to serve in
Africa in 1904 and was one of the first volunteers for service with the Regulares, being
appointed to the Grupo Regulares de Larache No. 4 in 1911. Continuous service with the
Regulares saw MilIan Astray acquire a reputation for both professional dedication and
competence and for fanatic bravery. By 1919, Millan Astray, now a lieutenant colonel, had
become convinced of two things. Firstly, that Spain's destiny, its path back to greatness, lay in
Africa. Secondly, that the conquest of Africa could not be accomplished with conscript and low
quality volunteer troops. Millan Astray was convinced that what was needed in Morocco was a
supremely professional, totally dedicated fighting force, devoted to Spain and the Spanish cause.
For his model he looked to the French Foreign Legion in neighbouring Algeria.

MilIan Astary drafted a plan for a volunteer force modelled on the French Foreign Legion and
presented it to the Minister of War, General Tovar. The minister accepted the plan and
authorized Millan Astray to proceed to Algeria. There, from 7 to 27 October 1919, at Tlemcen
and Sidi bel Abbes, he studied at first hand the organization, training, discipline and elan of
France's world famous corps of foreign volunteers. Following this period, Millan Astray suffered
almost a year of frustration as the plan for his legion worked its way tortuously up the
labyrinthine pathways of the Spanish War Ministry. Finally, on 4 September 1920, a Royal
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Decree was issued that authorized the fonnation of three banderas (battalions) ofthe 'Tercio de
Extranjeros' - the 'Regiment ofForeigners. '

It needs to be clearly understood here that the tenn 'Tercio de Extranjeros' was not analogous
with the French 'Legion Etrangere.' The French title referred specifically to a corps recruited
from foreigners whilst the Spanish tenn referred to a corps recruited foreign service. In fact the
Spanish Legion has always differed markedly from its French name sake in that very few
foreigners joined it and it has remained fairly consistent over the years at about 90% Spanish
membership. The title 'Tercio ' was selected in memory of the 'tercios', the invincible regiments
of Spanish infantry which had swept all before them in Italy and Flanders in the 16th and 17th
centuries. The title, however, was never accepted by Millan Astray, who always insisted on
calling his creation la Legion; as indeed did all others who served in it.

After organizing recruiting offices in Madrid, Zaragosa, Barcelona and Valencia, Millan Astray
proceeded to the coastal town of Ceuta, in Spanish Morocco on II September to establish his
HQ and Central Recruiting Office in the crumbling and near derelict King's Barracks. One of the
problems faced by Millan Astray was that he was a visionary and man of action, rather than an
administrator and details man. He needed a sound administrator to translate his theories and
visions into reality. Luckily for him, he had just the right man. In September 1918 he had
attended a field officer's marksmanship course at which he had met a young captain of infantry
named Francisco Franco. Millan Astray had been impressed by the younger man's dedication to
his profession, something of a rarity in the Spanish officer corps, and by his theories of infantry
tactics and organizations. Although the two parted at the end of the course they remained in
contact and when it came time to select a second in command for the Legion in 1920, Millan
Astray had no hesitation in offering the position to Franco. For his part, Franco accepted
immediately.

At this point, it is worth digressing for a moment to examine in detail the early career of
Francisco Franco. This digression is worthwhile for two reasons. First, Franco is integral to the
birth and early years of the Legion. Secondly, he is an incredibly fascinating person in his own
right.

Francisco Paulino Hennenegildo Teodulo Franco y Bohamonde was born on 4 December 1892
in the Galician city of El Ferrol, on the north coast of Spain. El Ferrol was and is a major port
city and is one of the three main bases of the Spanish Navy. Franco himself came from a naval
family - his paternal grandfather was an Intendente-General (equivalent to Vice Admiral) in the
Corps of Nava! Administrators; his maternal grandfather was a Rear Admiral in the Corps of
Naval Constructors; his father, the rakehell and ne'er do well Don Nicolas, was an officer in the
Corps of Naval Administrators, eventually to rise to the same rank as his own father -
Intendente-General; and his brother Nicolas was an officer in,the line who was eventually to rise
to the rank of Admiral. Franco himself was always intended for a naval career and at the age of
12 had passed from the hands of the nuns at the local school into those of retired Lieutenant-
Commander Saturnino Suances who ran the .''Naval Preparatory Academy" in Ferrot.
Unfortunately, in 1907, the year he was to enter the Naval Cadet School at Ferrol, the school was
closed. Sources differ as to why the school was closed. Some say it was for reasons of cost,
others that it was necessary to restrict the intake of junior officers to help clear a glut of middle
ranking officers, and still others that it was simply another of the Spanish military's seemingly
intenninable reorganizations. Whatever the reason, and it was probably a combination of all
three, the school did not re-open until 1911 and by then Franco would have been too old to

-
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With the navy closed to him, Franco had to look elsewhere for a career. The law or one of the
professions, such as medicine, were not viable choices as they would have required far too much
money for the university courses. Commerce was unthinkable and Franco did not even consider
the Church (although such a choice would probably have pleased his mother, the long suffering
and extremely pious Dona Pilar). That left the Army!

Appointments to the various Spanish military academies of the time were not plucked out of the
air, especially at short notice. Franco's family obviously had some influence, however, as he was
permitted at very late notice to sit the competitive exams for the Infantry Academy at Toledo,
qualifying for admission along with 381 other cadets. As a digression within a digression, it is
worth noting that one of the reasons for'the poor performance of the Spanish Anny at the time
was the extremely divided nature of its officer corps. Each of the major branches of the army
maintained its own officer academy. One graduation, officers passed onto separate promotion
and seniority lists, managed by :the corps, not by the army. It was not until an officer reached the
rank of General that :'he passed onto a central promotion and seniority list. There was
little interplay between the corps and the officers of each corps stuck very much to themselves
and each other. Needless to say, this did little for the efficient command and management of the
army! In the end it would be Franco himself, under the impetus of the Spanish Civil War, who
would dissolve the separate academies and establish one single institution for the training of
Army officers! But that's quite another story.

To return to the main thread of the story, Franco reported to the Infantry Academy, located in the
historic Alcazar overlooking ancient Toledo, on 29 August 1907. He was to be at the academy
for 3 years. It was not a happy time for him. Franco was not a particularly popular cadet. First of
all; he was younger the rest of his class, beirig in fact not quite 15 when he was sworn in, as
opposed to the rest of class whose average age was 16 and a half. Second he was physically
unprepossessing - he was small in stature, had a pale. complexion and distinct Semitic features.
He was also cursed with a high-pitched, almost feminine voice and alisp. Finally, he spoke with
a thick Galician accent that immediately identified him as a "country bumpkin." As a result of all
of these, he was the target of constant and merciless harassment. His uniforms were messed up
just before inspection parades, his room was "tossed" just before inspection, his text books were
hidden from him just before class, he was subjected to taunts, physical abuse and beatings. Yet
he persevered. The small Galician possessed a couple of qualities that stood him in good stead at
Toledo. First, he was dogged. Not only did he withstand and weather the constant harassment,
his doggedness was an asset in study. As with the other Spanish Anny Academies, learning at
Toledo was almost exclusively by rote. By dogged perseverance Franco memorized his texts and
eventually passed the academic requirements of the cadet course, if not with flying colours, at
least with good, solid marks. His second quality was courage. No matter how big his attacker, or
how many there were, France never hesitated to fight back, a courage that eventually earned him
the grudging respect of his fellow cadets and finally led to the cessation of the harassment. His
peers also respected his refusal to name his tormentors when called to account by the Academy
staff, a refusal that often led to his own punishment. Another area where Franco demonstrated his
courage was in equitation. All cadets were required to master horse riding under some of the
most exacting riding masters in Europe. Franco had never been on a horse in his life when
entered the academy. To the small Galidan boy from the seacoast, the huge cavalry chargers
used by the Equitation School must have been terrifying. Yet, as with his studies and the
harassment of his fellows, Franco persevered. Not only did he pass the equitation course, he
actually became a highly skilled rider and enjoyed a daily horse ride for the rest of his life
whenever possible, alinost up to the last days ofhis life.
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One area in which Franco did not need any training or development was shooting. The ne'er-do-
well shenanigans of his father Don Nicolas meant that, amongst other things, there had never
been much money in the Casa Maria. As a consequence, Franco and his brothers had all hunted
for the pot from an early age. Stalking rabbits and game birds in the hills above Ferrol, shortage
of money for ammunition had meant that the boys had to make every shot count and they all
became expe11 marksmen. This expertise stood Franco in good stead at Toledo where he
consistently won shooting prizes for his class and for the academy.

Francisco Franco graduated from the Infantry Academy on 13 July 1910. He immediately
volunteered for service in Morocco but was refused on the grounds of his youth (he was barely
17) and the fact that were was a waiting list of officers senior to him for the few active duty slots
available in North Africa. Instead ofAfrica, he went home to Ferrol. Franco was commissioned
Segundo Teniente (Second Lieutenant) into the 8th Regiment of Foot, the Zamora Regiment, the
army unit that provided the garrison for the naval base at El Ferroi. This was common practice in
the Spanish Army, most newly commissioned officers being gazetted to their local regiment.
This was done for a couple of very practical reasons. First, Spanish Army units were recruited
locally, a practice that led to language problems. Spanish as spoken on the Iberian Peninsular is
not the homogenous tongue one might suspect, the country being a welter of regional accents and
dialects. A Galician peasant from the hills above El Ferrol, for example, is well nigh
unintelligible to a Castilian, and vice versa. It was therefore vital to post officers who could
understand and be understood by the troops to the army's regiments. Second, posting a young
officer to his home town or region had cost benefits. Newly commissioned officers were
expected to live with their parents or relatives, dining in the mess one or two nights a week,
taking the remainder of their meals at home. This relieved the army of the burden of
accommodating and feeding its young officers and also gave the officers a small chance ofbeing
able to live on their meagre pay.

Franco found garrison life at El Ferrol both tedious and boring. With little real work to do, he
went for long rides in the hills, hunting for both pleasUre and the pot. Lacking either the dashing
naval uniform of his older brother Nicollls or the mischievous charm and good looks of his
younger brother Ramon (an Air Force pilot), he was also not much of a success in the social life
of the town. To the matrons of El Ferrol, 'Franquito' (Tittle the army officer son
of a drunken, rakehell navy officer who had left his wife was no great match for their daughters
and no encouragement was given to any' senorita to return any look of admiration cast in her
direction by the young officer.

It must therefore have come as a huge relief to Franco when his persistent requests for a posting
to Africa paid off. Here luck played a part along with perseverance. At the end of 1911, the
former Commandant of the Infantry Academy, Colonel Jose Villalba Riquelme, was posted to
command of the 68th Regiment of Foot, the African Regiment. Responding to a personal appeal
from Franco, whom he recalled with some affection, Riquelme pulled the necessary strings to
have him transferred to .the 68th. The Spanish Army Franco reported to in North Africa, was
wracked by as many problems and disasters as the home army. Mismanagement and corruption
were rife. The army suffered from a dearth of competent officers and NCO's. Arms and
equipment were inadequate, ammunition and rations in short supply. A constant stream of
casualties were reported in the national papers. During operations to re-establish the River Kert
Line in September 1912, these casualties were to include, amongst others, one general and three
colonels. On the other hand, the situation, visibly poor management and leadership at middle and
higher level and constant conflict with the rebellious Rif, was almost tailor made for an
ambitious young officer to make a name for himself.



Page 32 Sabretache Vol XLVII No. 1 ....,.. March 2006 ]

Arriving in Africa on 24 February, Franco took very little time in getting himself noticed. And in
doing so, he demonstrated another facet of his character, moral courage. In May 1912; Franco's
platoon of the 68th was in the vanguard ofa column tasked with clearing out the followers of the
charismatic Rif leader El Mizzian from the Garet region, with a sub-task of capturing or killing
the "holy man" himself Approaching a suspect village in the Garet, Franco's platoon was fired
on a strong force of hidden Rif The young officer was faced with a quandary. The solution to
such an ambush is a quick attack. Unfortunately, in the Spanish Army of the time, there was no
such thing as a "quick attack". Everything in the Spanish Army was done by the book, and any
deviation from the book was a grave transgression - with one exception. If the deviation worked,
it was forgiven. In this instance, what Franco should have done was halt his platoon, carry out a
thorough reconnaissance by binocular, then deploy his platoon in the exact fonnation decreed by
the Infantry Manual and fmally advance to the sound of the bugle. The manual decreed that this
process would take an average.of two hours. But Franco didn't have two hours, he probably
didn't have two minutes. Instead of following the book he had painstakingly memorized at
Toledo, he instantly wheeled his platoon into line and led a wild bayonet charge, sword and
pistol in hand. As a result the Rif were immediately routed and the way to the rebel village
cleared with minimal casualties. Fortunately for the young officer, his tactic had worked. Even
more fortunately, it had been witnessed by one of the few competent senior officers in Morocco,
Damaso Berenguer, a man who had the ear of the King. Berenguflr noted the tactic and asked for
the young officer's name. Berenguer, who had established and commanded the Moroccon
Regulares, remembered the name when Franco applied for a transfer to the Regulares in
December 1912. With the patronage of both Villalba Riquelme (recently promoted to Brigadier
General), and Berenguer, Franco's request was approved and in April 1913 he was transferred to
the 1st Tabor (Half-Battalion) of Regulares of Mellila. The transfer was accompanied by
Franco's promotion (his fIrst) to the rank ofPrlmero Teniente (First Lieutenant).

Franco found himselfmore at home commanding the Moroccan and Algerian mercenaries of the
Regulares than he had the mixture of volunteers and balloted conscripts in the 8th and 68th
Regiments. He dedicated himself totally to his profession, when his mess mates went into town
in search of what little entertainment was available, Franco remained in his tent reading military
history and politics and studying manuals and maps. Something of a rarity among Spanish
officers, he showed a genuine interest in the welfare of the men under his command.. He also
gained a reputation for fanatical bravery and total disregard for danger, his preferred tactic being
to lead bayonet charges armed only with his fustina (swagger stick). The moros under his
command believed he had the barilka, a fonn of divine luck that protected him and those near
him from harm. There was great competition among the Regulares to serve with him. His
dedication and bravery were both recognized when he was promoted to Capstan (Captain) in
March 1915. At the age of 22, this made him the youngest Captain in the Spanish Army.
Interestingly, Franco had declined the promotion at fIrst as it would in the nonnal course of
events have required him to leave the Regulares as there were no vacancies for captains in the
force. Franco flatly refused to command anything but a company ofRegulares so the nonplussed
Spanish military authorities agreed to carry him on the rolls of the Regulares as supernumerary
captain until a vacancy occurred in May!

Franco's luck, barilka or not, could not ofcourse last forever. On 29 June 1916, while taking part
with his company in operations in the Anyera region, he received his one and only wound.
Franco being Franco of course, the wound was far from trivial, he was in fact shot in the
stomach. Abdominal wounds are highly dangerous at the best of times, but for Franco, wounded
in the middle of the desert, far from any medical facility, surrounded by murderous, semi-
barbaric savages (and that was just his own men), and serving in an army with the most primitive
medical establishment of any European army, his outlook was grim. But that wasn't the end of it.
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That day happened to be Tuesday, which was pay night, and Franco had the company payroll
with him, 20,000 pesetas. The Regulares were pure mercenaries; dedicated and grim fighters,
their loyalty only lasted from one payday to the next. If they did not get paid on time, they had a
habit ofdeserting to the enemy, usually at the most inopportune time, generally taking with them
every weapon they could carry off and as often as not cutting the throat of every Spaniard in
sight before departing. Franco knew all of this and was quite aware that the minute he allowed
himself to lapse into unconsciousness, one of his men would abscond with the payroll,
immediately followed by the rest of the company, at least one ofwhom would most likely pause
just long enough to cut his throat. Thus Franco could not allow himself the' luxury of
surrendering to unconsciousness. Instead, he stayed awake, a blood soaked native head cloth
wrapped around his abdomen, guarding the payroll for several pain filled hours until another
Spanish officer arrived to take over command of the company. Franco then handed over the
payroll (and obtained a receipt) before slipping into unconsciousness. There followed a
nightmarish two-day trip back to the field hospital at Ceuta, jolted every foot of the way in the
back ofan unsprung mule cart. At the hospital, the doctors took one look at the wound and didn't
. even bother to go any further. Their treatment consisted of putting Franco in a tent and telling an
orderly to go in fromtime to time to confirm that he was dead. Incredibly, Franco lingered for
five days in the tent, his sole treatment being an occasional sponge with tepid water by an orderly
and having flies brushed off him. Eventually the doctors decided to take another look at him.
Whether this was due to the fact that they had decided that Franco was not ready to die after all
or because they wanted to try out their new X-ray machine is unknown. Whatever the reason,
Franco's stomach was x-rayed and to their astonishment the doctors discovered that the Riff
bullet had missed every vital organ, vein and artery. A rapid operation followed and Franco was
to make a full, if slow recovery. Eventually decorated with the Cross of Maria Cristina, Franco
was also recommended for promotion to Commandante (Major), .but this was rejected on
grounds of his youth and the fact that he had already overstepped the bounds of seniority by his
ac,celerated promotion to Capitan. Franco was not satisfied with this and, as was his right,
petitioned his case to the King. The King was favourably disposed and in February 1917,
Capitan Franco was promoted to Commandante, with seniority to date from 28 June 1916.

Unfortunately, by this time all vacant major's positions in the Regulares had been filled and
Franco reluctantly accepted a transfer back to the mainland where he was posted to the 3rd
Regiment of Foot, the Prince's Regiment stationed at Oviedo on the north coast ofSpain. Oviedo
was somewhat quieter than Africa had been. Appointed regimental adjutant, Franco added
accountancy studies to his other bookish pursuits and lectured his brother officers on the war
then raging in Europe, just across the borders of neutral Spain. The tedium of garrison life was
broken in June of 1917 when Franco hastily put together a mixed column ofsoldiers and Civil
Guards to put down a miner's strike in Oviedo during a period of unrest and martial law. This
brief interlude, an interlude which aroused Franco's life long interest in the study of politics and
socialism, was followed by more tedious garrison soldiering. Far from the bullet swept fields of
Africa, Franco was learning at first hand the truth of Mola's angry assertion that the Spanish
Army ofthe' Peninsular was "an army that existed on paper rather than in fact".

The monotony was broken again in September 1918 when he attended a field officer's course in
marksmanship. It was here that he met the fanatical and charismatic MajorMilldn Astray. Both
Franco and Milian Astray shared a common history of service in the Regulares, although the
former's service had been with the Regulares of MeIIila and Tetuan while the latter's had been
with the Regulares of Larache, and thus the two had never actually served together. Both had
also come to the conclusion that the Spanish infantry text books were hopelessly out of date and
needed total revision..At the end of the course, Franco went back to Oviedo and Milldn Astray
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was posted to Madrid to serve on a commission advising on the revision ofmilitary text books.
But the two did not forget each other and remained in constant touch by letter:

Back in Oviedo, as 1918 wore on into 1919 and then into 1920, Franco found the time to woo
and become engaged to the attractive daughter ofa high ranking Asturian family, Carmen Polo y
Martinez Valdes. Senorita Carmen's family had at first opposed the match but Franco's fame and
his obvious court connections won them over and the wedding was set for the autumn of 1920.
However, in September of 1920, Franco received a telegram from his old friend Milian Astray,
offering him an appointment as second-in-command of the newly created Legion. Franco
accepted immediately although this meant the indefinite postponement of his marriage to
Senorita Carmen! Thus the Legion gained as its second-in-command perhaps the ablest officer in
the Spanish Army, certainly one of the. best prepared and bravest, if not one of the most
intelligent. But what Franco may have lacked in intellect, he made up for with erudition,
experience and plodding, meticulous attention to detail..

Besides the officers for his new Legion, whom he had already picked, Milldn Astray correctly
anticipated that there would be no shortage of volunteers. The recently ended "war to end all
wars" had left a surplus of trained fighting men with little inclination to return to the tedium of
civilian Germans, Austrians, Frenchmen, Italians and even Englishmen, former soldiers of
the Great War, were among the first recruits for the Legion. Other recruits came from Central
and South American political and revolutionary exiles living in Spain. Finally, there were enough
young Spaniards who had recently completed their periods of volunteer or compulsory service
with the Colours or with the Civil Guards or Carabiniers to whom the military life remained
attractive to ensure a good crop of recruits to choose from. Franco departed Spain on 10 October
with the first 200 recruits for the Legion. On their arrival at Ceuta, the new recruits were warmly
and enthusiastically welcomed by their new commanding officer. But the eccentric Milian Astray
also warned the new recruits:

There will be constant sacrifices. In combat you will defend the most difficult and dangerous posts,
and many of you will die. There is nothing finer than to die with honour for the glory of Spain and its
army, as you will soon learn.

Not exactly designed to inspire confidence, the speeches of the fanatical Lieutenant Colonel still
seemed to strike a chord in the new recruits.

On 11 October, the first recruits were formed into the three company strong 1st Bandera
(Battalion - "bandera" literally means flag or banner), placed under the command of Franco,
and training began. On 16 October, the 1st Bandera marched from Ceuta to Dar Riffien,
approximately 10 kilometres away, and set about establishing a permanent home. Within a few
short years Dar Riffien would boast the finest living quarters in the Spanish Army, along with
workshops, gardens and recreational facilities, the envy of the rest of army. A fresh water
reservoir with water piped from mountain streams would provide pure safe water for the Legion
and the Legionnaires would dine on fresh meat, fruit and vegetables from the Legion's own
farms. All of this was the product of the work that industrious and meticulous organizer,
Commandante Franco.

Even as Milldn Astray and Franco set about training the first recruits, new batches of recruits
arrived from Spain and shortly the 2nd and 3rd Banderas joined the 1st. Recruits needed to be
aged between 18 and 40 and were required to pass a not too rigorous medical inspection. They
needed no documentation and could enlist under their own name or an assumed one. Daily pay
was 4 pesetas 10 centimos, more than double that of the Spanish Army, extra pay was available
to specialists and enlistment bounties of 500 pesetas for a three year enlistment and 700 pesetas
for a five year enlistment were paid. On the down side, training was rigorous and hard and
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discipline was unbelievably harsh. The 1st Bandera immediately established a Punishment
Squad, later a feature of every Bandera, and recruits were condemned to the squad for the most
minor infractions. A Legipnero sentenced to the punishment squad found himself subjected to
long hours of drill interspersed with back-breaking manual labour under the African
sun. Refmements included running back and forth on the parade ground in full kit with a full
sandbag added to the load until the defaulter dropped or being made to dig a pit and then spend
several days in it unsheltered from the either the heat of the day's sun or the cold of the desert
night (this latter was copied from the French Foreign Legion). NCO's had the power to deliver
immediate corporal punishment to any soldier and were liberal in its use, while officers and
warrant officers had the' power to summarily execute soldiers guilty ofan offence.

On 31 October 1920, barely 3 weeks after the arrival of the fIrst recruits, the newly formed 1st,
2nd and 3rd Banderas of the Legion paraded at Dar Riffien to swear fidelity to Spain and King
Alfonso XIII. Intense hours on the drill square resulted in an impeccable and even impressive
ceremony as the band played "God Save The King" (the Spanish version) and "Tipperary" as the
inspecting general marched down the ranks. It was at this time that Milian Astray gave to the
Legion its eccentric, fatalistic and morbidly Spanish "Credo." The "Creed of the Legion" is
worth repeating in full. It states:

The Spirit of the Legionary: It is unique and without equal, blindly and fiercely combative, seeking
always to close with the enemy with the bayonet.

The Spirit of Comradeship: With the sacred oath never to abandon a man in the field, even if all
perish.

The Spirit of Friendship: Sworn between each two men.

The Spirit of Unity and Succour: At the cry of "To me the Legion!", wherever they may be, all will go
to the rescue and, with or without reason, will defend the legionary who called for aid.

The Spirit of Marching: A legionary will never say he is tired until he collapses with exhaustion. The
corps will be the swiftest and the toughest.

The Spirit of Endurance and Perseverance: He will never complain of fatigue, nor of pain, nor of
hunger, nor of thirst, nor of drowsiness; he will do all tasks: he will dig, will haul cannons, vehicles;
he will man OlltpoStS, escort convoys; he will work on whatever he is ordered.

The Spirit of Seeking Battle: The Legion, from the lone man to the entire Legion, will hasten always
to where firing is heard, by day, by night, always, even though not ordered to do so.

The Spirit ofDiscipline: He will accomplish his duty, he will obey until death.

The Spirit or'Combat: The Legion will demand always, always, to fight, out of turn, without counting
the days, nor the months, nor the years.

The Spirit of Death: To die in combat is the greatest honour. One does not die more than once. Death
comes without pain and to die is not as terrible as it appears. More terrible is it to live as a coward.

The Flag of the Legion: It will be the most glorious because it will be stained with the blood of its
legionaries.

All legionaries are brave. Each nation has a reputation for courage. Here it is necessary to demonstrate
which people is the most valiant."

Milian Astray also gave the Legion its battle cry: "Viva la Muerte!" (Long live death!). Reading
the "Credo"and the battle cry, both the products of the mind of MiIldn Astray, is it any wonder
that 1. assess him as being as mad as a cut snake?

Even as the Legion was training and forming, trouble in the Protectorate was on the increase. In
the Western Zone (Ceuta), a notorious rebel cheiftan, El Raisuni, was mounting attacks against
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military posts and convoys. The High Commissioner, General Berenguer (the same Berenguer
who had established the Regulares and observed Franco's quick attack at Garet back in 1912)
sent three columns of troops against El Raisuni. These troops occupied the holy city ofXatien on
14 October 1920, and then continued to advance along the Gomara coast. Hard pressed for
reinforcements, Berenguer ordered the partially trained Legion into the field -at the end of
October.

The Legion now embarked on eight years of almost continuous fighting. At first, recognising the
inadequate preparation of the Legion, Spanish commanders declined to commit the Legion to the
vanguard ofoperations, relegating them to vital but unspectacular defensive duties. This changed
at the end of June 1921, however, when the 1st and 3rd Banderas fought a vicious action south of
Dad Lau. The two banderas fought off a series of concerted attacks by vastly superior enemy
forces, suffering about 40 dead each.

A month later came what was possibly the Legion's finest hour. The 1st 'and 3rd Banderas were
taking part in the siege of El Raisnui's strong hold at Tazarut when Franco's 1st Bandera was
ordered to make a forced march to Fondak. Franco led his unIt, plus a company of the 2nd
Bandera, on a forced march that started at 4 am and fmished at midnight. No sooner had the
exhausted legionaries fallen out by the roadside at Fondak, however, when they were roused to
continue the march. Setting out again at 3.30 am, the Legion force marched to Tetuan, which was
reached at 9.45 am. The Legion had marched 60 miles in a gruelling exercise that saw two
legionaries die of exhaustion. But, there was no rest for the exhausted legionaries as the 1st and
2nd Banderas were bundled aboard trains for a high speed dash to Ceuta. The exhausted
legionaries heard rumours of a disaster in the Eastern Zone of the Protectorate as the trains
rattled north.

The rumours were true. Goaded by the heavy handed actions of the Spanish commander in the
east, General Silvestre, and nursing a number of grudges, both real and imagined, a charismatic
and very able former official of the Bureau ofNative Affairs, Abd el Krirn, had rallied the Rifto
rise against Spain. Silvestre had been handed a stunning a blood drenched defeat at Annual and
had led a disorderly retreat towards Ceuta. By the night of 23 July, the Rifs had reached the hills
surrounding Ceuta and were investing the town. Behind them lay a trail of over 9,000 mutilated
Spanish corpses.

Responding to pleas for reinforcements, Bernenguer ordered the 1st and 2nd Banderas of the
Legion and two Tabors ofRegulares to the assistance of the threatened city. Departing Ceuta by
ship at 6 pm on 23 July, the reinforcements reached Mellila at 2 pm the next day. Informed of the
panic in the town, Milldn Astray harangued the crowds in typically overblown fashion, telling
them: "Away with fear! The breast of the Legion stand between you and the enemy. Long live
Spain! Long live Mellila! Long live the Legion!" He then ordered Franco to lead the Legion
through the city with bayonets fixed and colours flying. Order was restored and panic dampened.
The two banderas of the Legion marched out to man defensive positions in the suburbs while the
Regulares covered the eastern and western approaches. The following day a further two Tabors
ofRegulares and three battalions ofregular Spanish infantry arrived and the town was secure.

The Legion and the Regulares pushed south of the town a rapidly secured the hills dominating
the approaches. Timidity on the part of senior commanders, however, saw the Spanish soldiers
stalled in the hills for several weeks. The Legion was employed on convoy escort, defensive and
fighting patrols, all of which saw a steady trickle of casualties. In one memorable fight on 8
September, both Milldn Astray and Franco were engaged in a savage fight while leading a
convoy to a besieged outpost. At the height of the battle, Franco led the 2nd Bandera and two
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companies of his own 1st Bandera in a bayonet charge to clear the enemy from the heights
overlooking the ·Spanish column. Almost 200 legionaries and regulares died in the battle.

On 14 September, another typically grimly glorious page was written in the history of the
Legion. A blockhouse at Oar Hamed, so exposed that it was called 'El Malo' (the 'Dreadful
One') was relieved by troops from a Disciplinary Battalion. On the afternoon of the 15th Rifian
artillery fire partially destroyed the blockhouse, killed the commanding officer and killed or
wounded the rest of the garrison. A call went out in the 1st Bandera of the Legion for volunteers
to relieve the besieged garrison. As all of the men called on volunteered, despite the fact that
they knew they were going to certain death, the officer in command was able to hand-pick a
relieving force of a corporal and 14 legionaries. The reinforcement party worked .its way to the
blockhouse after dark, sustaining two casualties on the way. At first light the next day, the Rifs
renewed their attacks but the repeated attacks were beaten off by the legionaries with rifle fire
and grenades..Finally, the enemy brought artillery up and pounded the block house. When the
ruined block house finally fell to the Riffs just after midnight, not a man of the garrison was left
alive. This sort of sacrifice in the face of certain death was to come to be the expected norm for
legionaries.

By mid-September, General Berenguer had decided that he had collected enough force in Melilla
to go on the offensive. On 17 September, the 1st and 2nd Banderas of the Legion, four Tabors of
the Regulares of Ceuta and three regular infantry battalions advanced under heavy artillery and
air support. Franco and Milian Astray were in the lead when the column was held up by a strong
enemy forced entrenched in a gorge near Amadi that the force had to pass through. As the two
were conferring on the situation, as usual standing fully exposed to enemy fire, Millan Astray
was hit in the chest by an enemy bullet. As the blood soaked and gravely wounded colonel was
being carried off the field, he continued to shout: "Long live Spain! Long live the King! Long
live the Legion." Although he survived his wound, Milldn Astray was now out of the fight and
Franco was effectively in command of the Legion. He led the two banderas in a series of bayonet
assaults that outflanked the enemy and gradually drove them back. The Legion finally reached its
objective, the town of :Nador on 19 September. After securing the town and its surrounds, the
Legion spent six days burying over 2,000putrid and mutilated Spanish corpses that had littered
the town for weeks.

Success brought expansion to the Legion. In October a 4th Bandera was formed at Oar Riffien
and an extra rifle company was added" to each bandera. Companies were now numbered
consecutively through the Legion as follows:

1st Bandera 1st, 2nd 3rd and 13th Companies.
2nd Bandera 4th 5th 6th and 14th Companies..
3rd Bandera 7th,8th, 9th and 15th Companies.
4th Bandera 10th, 11th, 12th and 16th Companies.

The 3rd, 6th, 9th and 12th Companies were now machine gun companies. The 13th and 14th
Companies were formed from recruits from Central and South America. The 15th Company,
oddly enough, .contained a large number of British recruits. Commandante Franco Salgudo,
Francisco Franco's cousin, placed a standing order for tea with Fortnum and Masons in London
to make sure the British legionaries would not go without!

Throughout October and November, the Legion fought its way. south, taking and giving
casualties at it forced the Rifs back further and further into the mountains and deserts. Operations
culminated in an assault on a fortified mountain position at Uisan, which the legionaries carried
at the point of the bayonet after scaling the heights leading to the position under cover of a
driving snow storm.
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In the Western Zone, meanwhile, the 4th Bandera was also heavily engaged, suffering casualties
of23 dead and 212 wounded in actions betWeen 23 and 28 October alone. The 4th was joined in
November by a newly raised 5th Bandera (consisting of the 17th, 18th, 19th and 20th
Companies), raised at Oar Riffien. Milian Astray arrived back in the Protectorate on 10
November and took command of the 3rd, 4th and 5th Banderas in operations to the south of
Ceuta. On 10 January 1922, however, the mad colonel.was again wounded when a Rif bullet
shattered his right leg during a fighting withdrawaL During this fight, the 8th Company ofthe 4th
Bandera fought off so many attacks they ran out of anL.'llunition but fought on with knives,
bayonets and rocks. MiliaIi Astray was once more carried from the field and again evacuated to
Spain. Meanwhile, the Legion kept up its pressure andfinally, on 12 May 1922, the 3rd and 5th
Banderas participated in the final assault and occupation of El Raislini's stronghold at Tazarut.
El Raisuni himself escaped. The Western Zone ofthe was now largely

In the Eastern Zone, operations continued, however, and, unbelievably, MilIlin Astray, his
smashed leg splinted, rejoined the Legion at the end of February. When operations resumed in
mid-March, Milian Astray, painfully astride a horse, took his place at the head of the 1st and 2nd
Banderas.

A 6th Bandera was formed in September 1922, but the success of the Legion was not without its
critics and detractors. One victim of the intemalrivalries in the Spanish Army between· so-called
"Spanish officers" and "Africanistas" was Milian Astray who, by Royal Decree of 13 November,
was transferred from command of the Legion to command of a regiment at Cadiz. His place as
head of the Legion was taken by Teniente Coronel Rafael de ValanzuelaUrzais. Valanzuela was
a highly decorated and respected "Africanista'.' who had founded and commanded with
conspicuous success the Regulares of Alhucemas. Franco also left at this time, requesting and
receiving a posting back to his old unit, the Prince's Regiment at Franco departed the
Legion on 17 January 1923 and once back in Spain, he resumed his marriage plans.

Unfortunately, Franco's wedding plans were to be postponed yet again. On 5 June 1923, the 1st
and 2nd Banderas were involved in a vicious battle at Tizzi Asa. Among the 186 dead
legionaries at the end of the day was Teniente Coronel Valanzuela who had been killed at the
head of a bayonet charge by the 2nd Bandera. While Milian Astray asked for the position of
commander, he was still not fully recovered from his wounds. Instead, Commandante Franco
was promoted to Teniente Coronel (the youngest in the Spanish Army) and appointed to
command of the Legion. Bidding his long suffering fiancee a hasty farewell, the new lieutenant
colonel rushed to Morocco where he immediately undertook an extended inspection of his
widely scattered banderas. On 22 August he led an attack by the Ist and 2nd Banderas that
outflanked the enemy encircling the town of Tifaruin and allowed a force of Regulares to fight
its way through to the town and relieve the garrison.

Operations were brought to a somewhat confused halt in the Protectorate on 12 September when
a coup d'etat replaced the government in Spain. Taking advantage of the hiatus in operations,
Franco took 40 days leave and headed home to fmally marry his fiancee. On the way he paid the
obligatory call on the King in Madrid. Here he took the opportunity to place before the King and
the new Prime Minister, General Primo de Rivera, a plan to defeat the Rifian rebels by an
amphibious landing at Alhucemas. Finally, on 22 October 1923, in Oviedo, Tenient Colonel
Francisco Franco married Carmen Polo Martinez-Valdes. Among the congratulatory telegrams
Franco received were one from the King and one from eight legionaries imprisoned in the
Punishment Barracks at Ceuta. The eight legionaries assured their colonel that none of them
were deserters!
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Franco returned to Morocco on 23 February 1924 to rejoin his hard fighting legionaries. Despite
earlier successes, the Spanish were now hard"pressed in the Protectorate. Abd el Krim had
gathered a well armed, well trained, well equipped army of over 80,000 men and had extended
his influence to the Western Zone where he was now recognised by many influential leaders as
the Emir of the Rif. Viewing the situation with some alarm, Primo Rivera decided to withdraw
his forces from the hinterlands and concentrate them in prepared defensive positions around
Ceuta and Mellila. This was accomplished via a series of hazardous but fmally successful
operations throughout September, October and November. The Legion was prominent in the
operations, covering the withdrawal of the Spanish forces and civilians from a number of town in
both the Western and Eastern Zones. Franco personally commanded the last major operation
when the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th Banderas covered the withdrawal from Xaiien. The operation
was marked by a successful deception plan put in place by Franco. On the night of 16 November
the walls of the city were manned by straw dummies, prepared in secret the previous week,
dressed in the green tunics and caps of the Legion. Franco then led his five banderas, the last
Spaniards in the city, silently out at I am on the 17th. It was over six hours before the enemy
discovered the ruse.

Primo Rivera was pleased by the success of the operations, which had cost about 2,000 Spanish
lives. He was also extremely pleased with Franco, who he promoted to full colonel (the youngest
in the Spanish Army) on 7 February 1925. On 16 February, a Royal Decree changed the name of
the Legion from "Tercio of Foreigners" to "Tercio of Morocco." A 7th Bandera was formed at
Dar Riffien on I May, along with a Squadron of Lancers. On the following day, another Royal
Decree cancelled that of 16 February and reduced the Legion's official title to simply "Tercio."

Further reorganisation now saw the Tercio organised into two Legions as follows:

Colonel Commanding the Legion (Dar Rifflen): Legion HQ, Training Depot, Squadron ofLancers.
Eastern Zone (Mellila): 1st Legion - 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th Banderas.
Western Zone (Ceuta): 2nd Legion - 5th, 6th, 7th and 8th (1 January 1926) Banderas.

Each bandera now consisted of a headquarters, three rifle companies and a machine gun
company. Located at Dar Riffien was the Legion band, the best in the Spanish Almy.
Interestingly, these name changes were largely ignored by the Legion itself. Serving personnel,
from the colonel to the newest joined recruit continued to refer to the "Tercio" as "the Legion"
and, to the confusion ofoutsiders, referred to the two Legions as "Tercios."

On 9 April 1925, Abd el Krim made the fatal mistake of attacking the French positions along the
Uarga River. AltllOUgh his attacks would see the deaths of over 3,000 French troops and his
forces would threaten Fez, Rabat and Casablanca by the end of June, they were to be the undoing
of his power, Thoroughly aroused, the French sent Marshal Petain 'and significant troop
reinforcements to Morocco and entered into military negotiations with Spain. At the end of July,
a plan was agreed between the two powers that would see 160,000 French troops attack Abd el
Krim from the south while 75,000 Spanish troops would attack from the north.

Part of the plan incorporated Franco's suggestion for an amphibious landing at Alhucemas. The
landings commenced at 6.30 am on 8 September, spearheaded by the 6th and 7th Banderas of the
Legion with Franco in personal command. The confused fighting on the beaches of Alhucemas
Bay was marked by ferocious hand to hand struggles as the legionaries, supported by Regulares,
a harca of Riffian irregulars and the Spanish Army's African Battalion No. 3 cleared the heights
at the point of the bayonet. Despite fierce Riffian counter-attacks, by 20 September the Spanish
had 15,000 troops, supported by artillery and ten tanks in the Alhucemas bridgehead. The drive
out of the bridgehead began on 23 September, spearheaded by the Rifian harca (which was
commanded by Colonel Munoz Grandes who would go on to command the Spanish "Blue



!
LPage40 Sabretache Vel XLVII Ne. 1-March 2006

Division" in Russia in 1941), supported by the 6th and 7th Banderas of the Legion. As the harcas
and legionaries were sweeping all before them, to the east the 2nd and 3rd Banderas sallied forth
from Mellila to secure the heights to the south of the city. Meanwhile, to the west, the Ceuta
Column, including the .1 st, 4th and 5th Banderas, pushed the Rifs back from the coast. By 30
September the Rifs were in retreat everywhere and had been completely expelled from French
territory. On 2 October the Legion marched into Abd el Krim's capital at Axdir and put it to the
torch. Finally, on 8 October, the Spanish and French troops linked up at Zoco el Telata.

Although the war was not over,the Rifs were largely broken. In recognition of his contributions
to the campaign, on 3 February 1926 Franco was promoted to (at 33 not only
the youngest general in the Spanish Army but the yourigest in Europe) and relinquished
command of the Legion. His place was taken by the Legion's founder, Milian Astray, who had
been promoted to full colonel on 24 October 1924. Five days after that promotion, Milian Astray
had taken command of a column near Fondak. In a fight on the first day ofhis command his left
arm had been shattered by an enemy bullet. The wound had become gangrenous and his arm had
been amputated. It was thus a one-arriled colonel who arrived on 10 February to happily take
over command from his old comrade in arms. Franco departed for Madrid on 17 February and
his official involvement with the Legion ended.

The final offensive against the Rifs was launched at the beginning ofMarch 1926 when 140,000
Spanish and 325,000 French troops commenced their final advance against those kabyles still
under arms. On 4 March, while inspecting under fire a machine gun position of the 8th Bandera,
Milian Astray was wounded yet again. This time an enemy bullet struck him in the face,
destroying his right eye, smashing his jaw and exiting through his left cheek. Characteristically,
as he was carried from the field in a grave condition, he still managed to shout: "Viva Espana!
Viva la Legion!" His amazing collection of wounds saw him awarded a unique version of the
Spanish Army's wound medal - the Medal of Suffering for the Country - bordered with
diamonds, and earned him the nickname of"El grande Mutilado."

On 15 April, the last big push began, the French pushing north from the River Uarga and the
Spanish pushing south. Between 8 and 10 May the last major battle of the war was fought on the
heights of Loma de los Morabos as the 1st, 2nd, 4th, 5th, 7th and 8th Banderas, supported by
Regulares, Native Police and Spanish infantry crushed the last remnants of Abd el Krim's army.
Abd el Krim himself eventually surrendered to the French (the Spanish would have hung him)
and was exiled to Reunion Island in the Indian Ocean.

Incredibly, on 28 July, MiIldn Astray arrived back at Dar Riffien and took command of his
beloved Legion yet again. The last six months of the 1926 saw the banderas of the Legion
marching the length and breadth of the Protectorate, escorting convoys and disarming kabyles.
From March to June 1927 the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 6th and 8th Banderas of the Legion were involved in
one last action, stamping out a last final defiant rebellion in the Ketama region.

A Royal Decree of 18 June 1927 promoted Milian Astray to Brigadier General and thus he
fmally had to hand over command of the Legion, with whom he had personally fought in 62
actions. On 10 July 1927, the Spanish government declared the Protectorate fully pacified. The
Rif War was over. In 825 battles, the legion had suffered 2,000 dead, 285 missing and 6,096
wounded. Collective awards of Military Medal (equivalent to a Unit Citation) were made to the
1st, 2nd and 4th Banderas. There were 12 individual awards of Spain's highest military
decorations, the Laureate Cross of St. Ferdinand, bestowed on members of the Legion and 49
Individual Military Medals. In a final tribute, a Royal Decree of I October 1927 named General
Milian Astray Honorary Colonel of the Tercio.
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With the Rif War fmally over, the Spanish Anny went through an inevitable period of
reorganisation and contraction. As part of this process, the 7th and 8th Banderas and the
Squadron of Lancers were disbanded. Unlike the rest of the Spanish infantry, however, which
was reduced to a three-company establishment, the Legion's Banderas remained at four
companies. Despite the official announcement of pacification, sporadic outbursts of rebellion in
the Protectorate kept the Legion busy up until the 1930's.

In Spain meanwhile, the political and economic situation worsened. In 1931, King Alfonso XIII
went into voluntary exile. The election ofNovember 1933 favoured right wing elements and the
election results led to armed revolution in the Asturias. The highly politicised miners of the
region, one of the poorest and most depressed in Spain, revolted on 5 October 1934. The miners
numbered more than 30,000 and were well armed with dynamite stolen from the mines as well as
small arms, 200 machine guns and 29 artillery pieces seized from army barracks and arsenals.
They attacked and captured several towns in the Austurias, including the provincial capital of
Oviedo. Franco was Chief of Staff of the Spanish Anny at this time and he advised the Minister
for War to despatch troops from the other provinces to the Asturias and to call for
reinforcements from Morocco. As a result of this, the 3rd, 5th and 6th Banderas, along with
Regulares and several African Battalions, were shipped across the straits and placed under the
command of the ruthless Lieutenant Colonel Vague, a man who had made his mark as
commander of Regulares. The Asturian Uprising was marked by extreme violence on both sides.
While provincial troops carried out largely static defensive and security operations, the hard
bitten regulars from the Anny ofAfrica bore the brunt of the fighting. Neither the legionaries nor
the miners expected or gave quarter. Faced by the collapse of political support in the rest of the
country and the relentless assaults of the legionaries and moros, the miners capitulated on 18
October and Vague's column consisting of the 3rd, 5th and 6th Banderas, a Tabor of Regulares
of Ceuta and a battalion of African Light Infantry, marched into and occupied the
revolutionaries' main stronghold at Mieres. Although left-wing claims of Legion brutality in the
campaign were rife, claims of up to 30,000 civilian dead have been refuted by most observers.
On the other hand, at least 1,335 civilians did die in the fighting and enonnous material damage
was done to the Austurias (although the miners themselves had a large part to play in this). The
Legion lost 13 dead and suffered 46 wounded in the campaign and five Individual Military
Medals were awarrled. At the end of the campaign, the troops from the Anny of Africa were
swiftly returned to the Protectorate.

In February 1936, the fonner government was replaced by the left-wing Popular Front. Extreme
violence on both sides of the political spectrum saw the country slide inevitably towards civil
war. In July 1936, the Legion (still officially referred to as the Tercio) was stationed in Morocco
as follows:

Legion HQ (Oar Riffien): HQ, Training Depot, Band, Hospital.
Eastern Zone (Melilla): 1st Legion - 1st (Tauima), 2nd (Targuist) and 3rd (Villa Sanjurjo) Banderas.
Western Zone (Ceuta): 2nd Legion - 4th (Oar Riftit:n), 5th (Zoco el Arbaa) and 6th (Xauen)
Banderas.

Finally, on 17 July, the long planned military uprising occurred. Interestingly, the uprising was
precipitated ahead of schedule by Republican police investigations in Ceuta. Believing that the
conspiracy was about to be'revealed, the rebels in the Protectorate made their move several
hours before the time scheduled for the nation wide uprising (5 pm). The Legion was at the very
forefront of the uprising in Africa. The 1st and 2nd Banderas seized control ofMelilla with little
resistance. The 5th Bandera marched on Tetuan that night and took the town with almost no
resistance. The 4th Bandera had occupied Ceuta and the 6th Bandera had taken Larache by the
morning of the 18th. Africa, and more particularly, the strategically important Anny of Africa,
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was now in the hands of the rebels. Rebel assurances to the Sultan that the uprising was anti-
Communist led to an undertaking that the Sultan would guarantee the peace and security of the
Protectorate with his own troops and police. This freed the Army ofAfrica for service in Spain.

Franco arrived in Tetuan on 19 February, charged by the rebel junta with taking command ofthe
Army of Africa. On the mainland, in the meanwhile, and bloody fighting between the
two sides finally resolved itself by 20 February. When the smoke cleared, it transpired that the
government or the Republic held approximately two-thirds of the country (including the capital,
Machjd), most of the fleet,· two-thirds of the air force, the bulk of the Assault Guards and about a
quarter of the Civil Guards. The rebels or Nationalists, held about a third of the country
(including all ofMorocco and the Canaries and the main island of the Balearics), about half the
army (but including all of the all important Army ofAfrica), a third of the air force and the bulk
of the Civil Guards. Significantly, the Nationalists counted on the support of most of the
professional officers of the army and navy and held a large proportion of the both the best
agricultural and manufacturing areas in Spain·.

Hard-pressed on the mainland, the first priority of the rebels was to get the Army of Africa
across the Strait of Gibraltar. At first glance, easier said than done. Controlling most of the fleet
and two-thirds of the air force, at first sight it appeared that the Republic would have no
difficulty in bottling up the African Army in Morocco indefmitely. One of the enduring myths of
the Spanish Civil War is that of the air bridge across the Straits. While it is true that a number of
troops were flown across the Straits in small aircraft, the first. of them arriving on 2 August, the
bulk of the Army of Africa was ferried across the straits by sea. Doubting the efficiency of the
practically officer less Republican Navy, Franco took the biggest risk of his career on 5 August
when he crammed 3,000 troops (mostly legionaries of the 1st, 4th and 5th Banderas), 20 horses,
50 tonnes of ammunition and 12 field guns aboard two small ferries and despatched them to
Spain under the escort of a small gunboat. Although the numerically superior Republican Navy
tried to intervene, the handling of the government ships was so inept and that of the small
Nationalist gunboat Dato so aggressive that the Republicans were driven off. Heartened by this
success, the rebels a constant shuttle service across the Straits, which was barely hindered by the
Republican Navy. By 4 September, due to a combination of audacity, sound planning and luck,
the bulk of the Army ofAfrica had been ferried to Spain (most of it by sea!). .

The Spanish Civil War was to last for almost three years and was to be the heyday of the Legion.
Between September 1936 and April 1938, 12 new banderas would be raised. The 7th and 8th
Banderas were re-raised in September 1936. The 9th Bandera was formed in December 1936
while the 10th Bandera was raised in January 1937, with the 11th and 12th Banderas formed the
next month. The 13th Bandera was raised in July 1937, the 14th and 15th Banderas in August
1937 and the 16th Bandera in October 1937. The 17th and 18th Banderas were raised in 1938, in
January and April respectively. The Legion Tank Bandera was raised in January 1937. The
following year, in February, the Legion Light Tank Group was raised. In March 1937 a Legion
Anti-Tank Company was formed, along with a Legion Flamethrower Company. To oversee the
creation of the new units and to provide a flow of reinforcements, a Depot Bandera was formed
at Talavera in August 1937.

An important milestone for the Legion occurred on 8 May 1937 when a government decree and
accompanying Army Order at last officially recognised the title "Legion." Existing banderas (1st
- 6th) were now grouped into the 1st and 2nd Tercios; units raised during the war (Le. 8th - 18th
Banderas and the speciali')t units) were not incorporated into the Tercios.

The Civil War was also to see the greatest influx of foreigners into the Legion in its history.
Several thousand Portuguese volunteers enlisted in the Nationalist cause and most of these



I Vol XLVII No. 1 - March 2006 Page 43 .i

served in the Legion, although not in fonned Portuguese units. French volunteers on the other
hand fonned the 67th Company of the 17th Bandera and were called the "Joan of Arc"
Company. For a brief 6-month period there was an Irish Bandera, briefly titled the 15th.
Commanded by an arch Irish nationalist (and quasi fascist), General Eoin O'Duffy, the 600 man
Irish Bandera had its own flag - an Irish wolfhound in saffron on ail emerald green field - and
members wore a harp badge on their collars. Although the Irish Bandera conducted itself well
when committed to the field, it suffered from the fact that it was transparently the political
plaything of O'Duffy who was patently using the unit as a vehicle to further his own political
ends in Ireland. The bandera was disbanded in June 1937 and most men went home, although a
few stayed on to serve as individuals with the Legion. Besides the Portuguese, French and Irish,
relatively significant numbers of White Russians, Gennans and British served with the Legion
during the war. Although the officer corps of the Legion was almost totally Spanish, four notable
exceptions were British. Tenientes Noel Fitzpatrick and William Nangle, both fonner British
Anny officers, served with the 5th Bandera. Alferez Peter Kemp, who was fresh from Cambridge
and was to be wounded four times, served with the 14th Bandera. Finally, Teniente Cecil Owen
served with the 16th Bandera, with whom he was killed in action during the Battle of Ehro in
August 1938. Peter Kemp is particularly significant. Besides going on to have a very interesting
war with British Naval Intelligence during World War Two, in the 1950's he published a highly
detailed and very readable account of his service with the Legion, one of the few sources on the
Legion readily available in English. .

The activities ofthe Legion throughout the war are far too complex and detailed to be included
in this article. Between January 1937 and April 1939 the Legion was engaged inalIDost every
major action fought between the Nationalists and the Republicans. Some highlights of the
Legion's service during the war include:

. The savage see-saw fighting for Brunete in July 1937 (1st, 8th and 13th Banderas);

The Nationalist breakthrough in the Asturias in September 1937 (3rd Bandera);

Defence of the Madrid-Toledo Line from January-December 1938 (5th 8th 9th 10th, 12th and 16th
Banderas);

Battle of Alfambra (Teruel counter-offensive) January"February 1938 (1st, 3rd4th 5th, 6th 7th, 13th,
14th and 16th Banderas);

Aragon offensive March 1938 (2nd - 7th, 13th - 17th Banderas, Legion Tank Bandera, Legion Light
Tank Group; . . .

Levante offensive and Battle ofCastelion May-June 1938 (1st - 7th and 13th - 16th Banderas);

Battle of the Ebro 25 July-3 November 1938 (1st - 7th, 11th, 14th, 16th -18th Banderas, Legion
Tank Bandera, Legion Light Tank Group, Legion Flamethrower Company);

Catalonia offensive 23 December 1938 -10 February 1939 «2nd -7th and 13th -18th Banderas);

Final offensives central Spain and Levante March-April 1939 (Somosierra-Levantesector, 1st and
13th -18th Banderas; Madrid-Toledo front, 3rd, 5th, 7th, 8th and 12th Banderas, Legion Tank
Bandera; Cordoba front - 4th, 6th, lOth and 11th Banderas, Legion Light - 2nd Tank Group; Army
reserve 2nd and 9th Banderas).

This list of actions and units does little justice to the sacrifices of the Legion during the war.
Between Jailuary 1937 and the publication ofFranco's colllIriunique declaring peace, issued on 1 .
April 1939 the Legion was involved in 3,042 actions and suffered 37,393 casualties - 7,645
dead, 28,972 wounded and 776 missing. The 1st, 4th, 11th and 15th Banderas were each
awarded a Collective Laureate Cross of 81. Ferdinand. Collective MiiitarY Medals were awarded
to the 1st, 2nd, 3rd; 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th, 16th and 17th Banderas as well as the Flamethrower
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Company. The 5th Bandera actually earned three Collective Military Medals, while the 1st, 3rd,
4th and 7th Banderas each earned two awards. Seven Individual Laureate Crosses and 155
Individual Military Medals were awarded to members of the Legion.

With the war over, the Legion returned 10 its home in Morocco and went through a period of
contraction. The 12th - 18th Banderas, the Tank Bandera, the Light Tank Group and the
Flamethrower Company were all disbanded. A major reorganisation occurred in December 1939
when an Inspection of the Legion (administrative headquarters) and Depot Company were
formed. at Ceuta and a Central Recruiting Office was established in Madrid. At the same time,
the operational elements of the Legion were reorganised into three Tercios as follows:

1st Tercio (HQ Taufma) 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 10th and 11th Banderas and 1st Mixed Group;
2nd Tercio (HQ Oar Riffien) 4th, 5th and 6th Banderas and 2nd Mixed Group; and
3rd Tercio (HQ Larache) 7th, 8th and 9th Banderas and 3rd Mixed Group.

The Mixed Group, one per Tercio, was a heavy weapons unit consisting of an HQ, an "infantry
cannon" company, an anti-tank company and an anti-aircraft machine gun company.

Although Spain remained neutral during the Second World War, the Legion was kept busy
keeping the peace (always a fairly fragile thing) in the Protectorate. The Legion was also tasked
with preserving the neutrality of the Protectorate and, amongst other things, was given
responsibility for running an internment camp at Alhucemas Bay for both Allied and Axis
personnel who had strayed onto neutral territory. Internees, both Allied and Axis, recall several
things about the internment camp. First, its spectacular location, on the hills above the bay
overlooking the deep blue Mediterranean. Second the food, abundant but monotonous. Third, the
unwavering courtesy of the Legion guards, unfailingly polite but firm to all ranks and nations.
Finally, the fact that no-one, Allied or Axis, ever escaped from the camp, due to the vigilance
and diligence of the Legion guards. A number of legionaries, both officers and NCOs, were
accepted for service the Spanish Blue Division (Division Azul) in Russia and number of these
men died fighting alongside the Germans.

On 21 December 1943 the tercios were given the names of heroes who commanded the famous
Spanish armies of the 16th and 17th centuries. Thus the 1st Tercio became "Gran Capitan"; 2nd
Tercio became "Duque de Alba; and 3rd Tercio became "Don Juan de Austria." On 1 July 1947,
the lOth and 11th Banderas were disbanded, although they would rise again. A Sub-Inspection of
the Legion at Ceuta was created on 12 August 1950 to oversee matters of organisation and
training, leaving the Inspection of the Legion free to carry out the command function. In October
of that year a 4th Tercio (titled "Alejandro Farnesio") was formed at Villa Sanjurjo. It consisted
of the re-raised lOth, 11th and 12th Banderas and the 4th Mixed Group. At this time the Legion
also abandoned the practice of numbering companies sequentially. From now on each bandera
would consist ofa HQ Company and 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th Companies.

On 1 January 1954 General Milian Astray, Father of the Legion, died in Madrid at the age of 74.
At his own request, his Legion cap and a single white glove were placed upon his coffin and on
his headstone was engiaved the epitaph he had composed for himself:

Charity and pardon - Milian Astray - Legionary

Life tor the Legion changed dramatically in 1956 with the independence of Morocco. This was
recognised by France on 2 March ofthat year and by Spain just over a month later. But, although
Spain recognised Moroccan independence, it retained the northern coastal enclaves ofCeuta and
Melilla as well as the enclave ofIfui on the west coast. Under an agreement between the Spanish
and Moroccan governments, the Legion retained its bases at Dar Riffien and Taiuma, south of
Ceuta and Melilla respectively. Finally, Spain retained sovereignty of its vast Saharan territory to
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the south of Morocco and west of Mauretania. To police and guard the Saharan territory, the
Legion formed the independent 13th Bandera in July 1956. Organised as a headquarters, three
rifle companies and a support company equipped with machine guns, mortars and infantry
cannons, the 13th Bandera was based at El Aaiun and was subordinate to the 2nd Tercio for
administrative purposes.

Neither lfui nor Spanish Sahara were quiet by any stretch of the imagination. Terrorist activity
by the Istiqlal party required the deployment of the 13th Bandera to desert posts in the interior.
Demands on the independent bandera soon saw it stretched beyond its capacity and the 4th
Bandera arrived in June 1957 as reinforcements. As the terrorist activity increased the 2nd and
6th Banderas arrived in lfui November. The arrival of the Legion reinforcements in lfui was
timely as the "Saharan Liberation Army" launched an offensive on the night of22/23 November
aimed at capturing the capital of Sidi lfui. The 6th Bandera, in a reprise of Legion actions in the
Protectorate in 1924, marched to the relief of isolated settlements and outposts in the desert and,
in the face of non-stop attacks by the terrorists, had evacuated all threatened civilians and the
interior garrisons to Sidi lfui by 6 December. With the civilian population now secure, the 6th
Bandera, along with the newly arrived 2nd and 9th Banderas, launched a counter-offensive
which had largely cleared the territory of enemy by the middle of January 1958.

The Legion was also active in the Saharan territory, the 13th Bandera marehing for miles across
the burning deserts in search of the elusive foe. For the rebels, however, things took a turn for the
worse in February 1958. Also threatened in its neighbouring territories of Algeria and
Mauretania, the French government decided to co-operate with Spain in. joint operations to
defeat the "Saharan Liberation Army." Throughout February French and Spanish aircraft
maintained constant attacks on rebel supply centres and caravans while on the ground 9,000
Spanish and 5,000 French troops kept up a constant pressure as they flushed the rebels out of
their strongholds. The main Spanish formation involved was "Motorised Group A", consisting of
the 4th, 9th 9 and 13th Banderas, the Santiago Cavalry Regiment and a battalion of Spanish
infantry. The Motorised Group launched a major offensive on 10 February. By 20 February they
had captured the main enemy stronghold at Smara, south of the Saguia el Hamra, in a joint
operation with a French column from Fort Trinquet in Mauretania. The "Saharan Liberation
Army" had been defeated by the end ofMarch. Although much of the fighting in the lfui-Sahara
Campaign was of the small scale, hit and run type, the Legion was involved in one major action
when the 13th Bandera clashed with a large rebel force around the Saguia el Hamra. During the
battle, the 3rd Platoon of the 2nd Company was cut off and surrounded by a large rebel force.
Fighting off constant attacks by the numerically superior enemy force the platoon had suffered
over 50 percent casualties by last' light. The badly wounded platoon commander, Brigada
(Warrant Officer) Fadrique ordered the survivors to withdraw Under cover of the gathering
darkness, taking their wounded with them. Fadrique, the badly wounded Legionary Maderal and
two corporals remained behind to cover the withdrawal. Once he was certain his men had made a
clean break, Fadrique ordered the two corporals to withdraw as well and then faced the final rush
of the enemy accompanied only the dying Legionary Maderal. The 3rd Company moving up to
the relief of the cut off platoon heard the final action, with the voices of Fadrique and Maderal
defiantly yelling' Viva la Legion' to the very end. When the relief force arrived, Fadrique and
Maderal were both dead, more than 30 enemy bodies strewn around their position. The enemy
fmally broke contact later in the night under the pressure ofLegion mortar and machine gun fire
and spirited company attacks. The action cost the bandera 37 dead and 50 wounded, while 241
rebel bodies were recovered from the field. In total, the lfui-Shara Campaign cost the Legion 55
dead, 74 wounded and one missing. Two posthumous awards· of the Laureate Cross of St.
Ferdinand were made. These went, not surprisingly, to Brigada Fadrique and Legionary Maderal
of the 13th Bandera.
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In 1961 the Legion left Morocco for good. When Morocco refused to ratify the basing agreement
sigried with Spain in 1956, Spain agreed to withdraw completely from Morocco, except for
Ceuta and Melilla of course. Consequently, on 28 February, 1961 the 4th Bandera handed over
its beautiful base at Dar Rifflen to the Royal Moroccan Army. The same day, the 3"1 Bandera
handed over its equally lovely base at Tauima. The 1st and 2nd Tercios moved to Ceuta and
Melilla. The 3rd and 4th Tercios had moved several years earlier, redeploying to Spanish Sahara
in 1958 where they became known as the Saharan Tercios. Constitution of these latter in October
1958 was as follows:

Saharan Tercio 'Don Juan de Austria', 3rd of the Legion -7th and 8th Banderas, I' Light Armoured
Group, 1st Motorised Battery.
Saharan Tercio 'Alejandro Famesio', 4th of the Legion - 9th and lOth Banderas, 2nd Light
Armoured Group, 2nd Motorised Battery.

The Light Armoured Groups had been fonned during the Ifni-Sahara Campaign and retained
after the end of the conflict. In 1966 they were retitled 1st and 2nd Saharan Light Armoured
Groups. Originally equipped with US M24 Chaffee light tanks and old US World War Two
vintage armoured cars, the Groups re-equipped over the years until by the mid-1970's they were
equipped with French AMX-30 medium tanks, AML-90 and AML-60 armoured cars and
Panhard M3NTT armoured personnel carriers.

Both Morocco and Mauretania laid claim to Spanish Sahara, but there were few internal
disorders in the territory during the 1960's. In June 1969 the enclave ofIfni was transferred to
Morocco and as a consequence the 13th Bandera was disbanded. Throughout the early 1970's,
there were sporadic disturbances in Spanish Morocco, during which the Legion suffered three
fatal casualties. An acute crisis arose in October 1975 when King Hassan 11 of Morocco
organized the 'Green March.' In this demonstration 250,000 unarmed Moroccans marched from
Agadir with the expressed intention of peacefully occupying the Saharan territory. The 3rd and
4th Tercios of the Legion stood ready behind the border minefields to repel the marchers. There
is little doubt that had they been called on the legionaries would not have hesitated to fire on the
marchers. Fortunately for all, at the last moment the marchers turned back. Facing reality, the
Spanish government announced on 11 November that it had passed a law to decolonise their
Saharan territory, the law to take effect on 28 February 1976.

It is possibly as well that Franco did not live to see the end of Spain's African mandate. El
Caudillo died on 20 November 1975. Three days later the co-founder of the Legion was laid to
rest in his personal long prepared basilica in the Valley of the Fallen in the Guadarrama
Mountains. Many legionaries and ex-legionaries were among the hundreds of thousands who
attended both the lying in state and the funeral ceremonies. The Legion carried out its final
withdrawal from the Sahara in the last week of February 1976. This ended the Legion's mission
in Spanish Africa and meant the disbandment of the 4th Tercio. Despite calls from some quarters
for the total abolition of the Legion, it survived to celebrate its 60th anniversary in September
1980. At that time of its 60th anniversary the Legion was organized as follows:

Inspectorate of the Legion (Ronda) - HQ, Depot, Hospital, Band, Training Bandera
Tercio 'Gran Canitan', F' of the Legion (HQ Melilla) - 1st, 2nd and 3rd Banderas.
Tercio 'Duque de Alba', 2nd of the Legioil (HQ Ceuta) - 4th, 5th and 6th Banderas.
Tercio 'Don Juan de Austria', j the Legion (HQ Fuerteventura, Canary Islands) - 7th and 8th
Banderas and Ist Light Group.

Since 1980 the Legion has had to work hard both for its survival and to defme itself. In 1987 the
King issued a decree that finally forbade the enlistment of foreigners in the Legion. Under the
decree those foreigners serving in the Legion at the time were pennitted to serve out their current
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contracts. With this decree, the name of the Legion was changed from the Spanish Foreign Legion
(Legion Extranjeros Espanol) to simply the Spanish Legion (Legion Espanol).

The Legion appears to have settled into the role of the hard professional core of the Spanish Army.
Even with current moves toabolish conscription and move to an all professional army in Spain, it is
likely that the Legion, with its elan and its history of unquestioning obedience and professional
service will remain as the fighting core of the army. Despite rigorous discipline and hard training,
the Legion has little difficulty in attracting recruits. Training is certainly hard, the obstacle course at
the Training Bandera at Ronda is reputed to be the toughest in Europe. The Legion stilI uses live
ammunition during training to liven recruits up. As for discipline, the Legion has its own military
code ofjustice, separate from the. rest of the Spanish armed forces, Its troops are in themain policed
by its own' military police, miscreants are punished in the Legion's own punishment unit and
incarcerated in the Legion's own prison, and NCO's still retain the right to physically punish
recruits. On the other hand, pay is good, stilI more than twice that of the rest of the Spanish Army,
food and living conditions (once recruit and specialist training are over) are excellent and the
Legion still offers opportunities for travel. On completion of training the new Legionary is assured
of a posting to either Ceuta or MelilIa, still considered exotic overseas postings. Additionally, the
Legion is the unit of choice for overseas operational deployments. In recent years units of the
Legion have served with the UN in Guatemala and in the former Yugoslavia. With a current
strength ofabout 8,000 men, the Legion is organised as follows:

Legion HQ/Inspectorate of the Legion (Vieta) Legion Logistics Group (GLOGLEG):
Sub-Inspectorate of the Legion (Ronda): HQ Coy
Special Operations Bandera (BOEL) Administration Company

XIII Legion Brigade 'Rey Alfonso XIII' (Vieta): Supply Company
HQ Bandera (BCG): Maintenance Company

Command Company Medical Company
Service Company Transport Company
Anti-Armour Company Personnel Section.
Intelligence Unit Tercio 'Don Juan de Austria' .rd of the
Signals Unit Legion (Vieta):
Band of the Legion HQ and Command & Support
Legion Drum and Bugle Corps. Company ..

Legion Artillery Group (GALEG): 6th Light (Airmobile) Bandera
HQ 7th Light (Airmobile) Bandera
Support Battery Tercio 'Alejandro Farnesio', 4th of the
3 x Light Batteries (I05/37mm Legion (Ronda):
Light Gun) HQ and Command & Support
I x AA Missile Battery (Mistral) Company
I x Service Battery. 10th Light Bandera

Legion Engineer Unit (UZAPLEG): Tercio 'Gran Capitan' Is' of the Legion
HQ Coy (Melilla):
Service and Support Section HQ and Command & Support Company
Engineer Company 1st Bandera
EOD Detachment. 2nd Bandera

3rd Bandera
Ist Light Group

Tercio 'Duque de Alba' 2nd of the Legion
(Ceuta):

HQ and Command & Support Company
4th Bandera
5th Bandera
6th Bandera
2nd Light Group
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As can be seen the Legion constitutes almost an anny within and anny. And this is very much the
way the Legion wants it and basically always has had it. The Legion sees itself as the elite of the
Spanish Anny and has always striven to stand apart from the rest. The classic example of this is
the senior command of the Legion. The HQlInspectorate is commanded by a Major General as
"Inspector of the Legion." The Spanish Anny is organised at the staff level intoinspectorates,
one for each ann of the anny, e.g. the Inspectorate ofInfantry, the Inspectorate ofEngineers, etc.
The Legion is not subordinate to any of these inspectorates as the rest of the anny is. It has its
own Inspectorate, reporting directly to the CommandantGeneral of the Anny, an arrangement
that .lets it very much do its own thing. The Sub-Inspectorate is commanded by a brigadier
general. He is responsible for the day to command and administration of the Legion, freeing the
Inspector to get on with high level planning and policy. Note, however, that the Sub-Inspector
has an operational role as well, with the Special Operations Bandera subordinate to him. The
BOEL is actually the 9th Bandera but is not called that.

The XIII Legion Brigade is also commanded by a brigadier general. the array of support troops
and assets available within the brigade ensures that the legion is almost totally self-sufficient,
relying on the other anns of the anned forces only for strategic and medium range tactical
transport. note, however, the lightness of the scale of equipment. the legion has historically been
a fast moving force and has not seen the need to saddle itself with heavy equipment and
annament that might slow it down. Each Bandera consists of a headquarters and command
company, a support and heavy weapons company and three rifle companies. The support
company includes mortars, air defence, anti-annour and engineer elements. The 1st and 2nd
Tercios, while technically part of the XIII Legion Brigade, come under the brigade for reporting
purposes only. For operational, command and administrative matters they come under the
Commandant General of Ceuta and Melilla respectively. Note that the Legion no longer has
troops deployed in the Canaries.

So, the legion lives on. creation of an eccentric military mystic; commanded at one time by the
man who would one day be the supreme ruler of Spain; shock troops of the African anny and
nationalists of the civil war; unit of choice for young Spanish recruits looking for something
different, the legion's place in the Spanish anny is probably assured for some time to come. to
me, it is one of the most interesting military units in the world, with a fascinating history.
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OBITUARY - NEVILLE STANLEY FOLDI 1930-2005

"Nev" Foldi, who died in Canberra on 22 November 2005, was the longest serving member of
the Federal Council of the Military Historical Society of Australia. He had been a Council
member from 1978 to 2002. He was Sydney born and educated at Fort Street Boys' High School
After school Nev spent twelve months as a cadet Patrol Officer in New Guinea before joining the
Australian Customs Service in Sydney. There he became a member of the 30th Battalion, The
New South Wales Scottish Regiment, rising to the rank of captain.
His old friend Ken White enlisted him as a member of the Military Research and Collectors
Society, NSW Branch; Nev was interested in Australian military history, mainly First World
War, and he was the proud owner of a collection of Britain's' model soldiers - complete sets in
their traditional red boxes. Transferring to Canberra in 1963 Nev joined Ken White, Ken Lyon
and myself to form the ACT Branch of the Society in May ofthat year. It was about the time that
the NSW Branch broke away and the title Military Historical Society of Australia was adopted
for our organisation.

In 1975 the ACT Branch had undertaken the responsibility to form the Federal Council of the
MHSA and, after the hiatus which occurred in 1978, Nev stepped into the role of Federal
President. I became Federal Secretary and, as we lived in the same suburb we were able to
establish not only a good working relationship on Society matters but also to become firm
friends, a friendship which continued until the present.

Nev held the office of President for four years and in those years his leadership proved a
stabilising influence in an organisation somewhat in disarray, When he relinquished the
Presidency to Hans Zwillenberg, Neville immediately undertook the post of Society Treasurer, a
difficult role with the number of Branches comprising the Society. In spite of the complexity he
could be relied upon to produce the annual balance report by the due date. Nev carried the
responsibility for 20 years, retiring from Federal Council inJuly 2002.

An occasional contributor to Sabretache, he maintained his membership and an interest in the
affairs and activities of the Society. In Federal Council his contributions to discussion of Society
affairs had always been considered and straight-forward. His wise counsel will be missed.

From 1997 until shortly before his death, Nev undertook voluntary work in the Research Section
of the Australian War Memorial. He had a life-long interest in the Scouting movement, he had
been at one time and was for several years the Secretary of the Shakespeare Trust,
a fund up to support Scouting in Canberra. '

His funeral service was attended by members of the Society including most of those who had
been associated with Nev on Federal Council. I was able to present a tribute to Neville's work in
support of the MHSA and to pass on to Ann and her family our sympathy for their loss. We have
lost a good friend and a loyal member. '

OBITUARY - KENNETH GEORGE LAYCOCK 1921 - 2006

Ken Laycock, a long-serving member of the MHSA died on 12 January 2006. He had lived most
of his life in Canberra and was a member of the AC.T Branch forcover 30 years. Ken's interest in
military history was both studious and personal.

Ken was particularly proud to have been the great-great-great grandson of Quartermaster
Thomas of the New South Wales Corps. His famous ancestor had arrived in Sydney in 1791 and
became a leading identity in the colony, and duly received impOltant land grants. In March 1804
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he was prominent in the suppression of the Castle Hill uprising. Two ofThomas Laycock's three
sons were also members of the Corps.

Ken could also claim involvement with another important part ofAustralia's military history. As
a sergeant in the 3rd Infantry Battalion, a militia unit with strong connections to Canberra and
the surrounding district, he' fought on the famous Kokoda Track. He is remembered by
colleagues as having been 'a fair dinkum soldier, and a good instructor'. On 19 October 1942 he
was seriously wounded during the fighting at Templeton's Crossing. The ordeal of his
evacllation, during which he was operated upon on a table made from boxes, and under the light
of hurricane lamps, is described in Port Moresby to GonaBeach (1992). He was discharged in
1944. . .

Ken is survived by three children, his grandchildren and great-grandchildren. His enthusiasm'and
involvement will be missed by all the member.> who knew him over many years.

OBITUARY - ALBERT RAPHAEL GUTHRIE 1927-2005

The Victorian Branch of the Military Historical Society of Australia is saddened to report the
passing of long time member Albert Raphael Guthrie in Melbourne on 8 December 2005. Gus as
he was widely known had been a strong supporter of the Branch for about three decades and was
a keen member of various 'veterans' and musical organisations in Victoria and overseas..Born in
Melbourne in 1927 and educated at Scotch College, Gus followed the seafaring footsteps of his
father who was a ship's master and joined the Australian Merchant Marine service as a deck boy
in late October 1944. He saw active service in the South West Pacific Area on vessels such as
the Era and Lawana from the Melbourne Steamship Company, which plied the coastal routes
between southern Australia and the war tom islands to the north, at a time when 1 in 8 Merchant
Mariners met therr demise at the hands of the enemy. For his service he was awarded the 1939-
45 Star, Pacific Star, War Medal and Australian Service Medal 1939-45 and exhibited conduct
and ability described as very good throughout his war service.

After the war Gus continued to serve on one Australian vessel after the other from ports such as
Geelong, Sydney and Devonport. Wartime vessels well known to' military historians such as the
Kanimbla and Taroona were among the dozens on which Gus was engaged as an able seaman.
Long time members will recall that in his later years Gus spent considerable time on the Princess
ofTasmania. Rather late in life he met and married Grace and remained a Bayside resident when
not away at sea or on one of his innumerable trips overseas to the United States spending time
with American veteran groups, or in South Asia. Closer to home Gus was a popular and well
known member of the RSL and Victorian Railways Bands where he performed as a drummer,
and rarely missed an An7.-ac Day March in Melbourne, often dashing back to march yet again
from the city to the Shrine of Remembrance. Gus was also a member of the Corps of
Commissionaires for many years and was instrumental in involving the Military Historical
Society in the establishment of the Moorabbin/Canakkalei Twin Cities project and other
commemorative activities. Always keen to share his enthusiasm, knowledge and enquiring mind
with fellow Military Historical Society members, Gus Guthrie will be sorely missed by all who
knew him.
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